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V I SION A ND OB JEC T IVES
V I SION
• Facilitate the development of a competitive electricity
market in the SADC region.
• Give the end user a choice of electricity supplier.
• Ensure that the southern African region is the region of
choice for investment by energy intensive users.
• Ensure sustainable energy developments through
sound economic, environmental and social practices.

Implement strategies in support of sustainable
development priorities.

MISSION
Aim to provide the least cost, environmentally friendly
and affordable energy and increase accessibility to rural
communities.

OBJ E CTIVES

S T R AT E G Y

•

To be the most preferred region for investment for value
for money by energy intensive users.

•
•
•
•

2

•

Provide a forum for the development of a world
class, robust, safe, efficient, reliable and stable
interconnected electrical system in the southern
African region.
Coordinate and enforce common regional standards
of quality of supply, measurement and monitoring of
systems performance.
Harmonise relationships between member utilities.
Facilitate the development of regional expertise
through training programmes and research.
Increase power accessibility in rural communities.

VA L U E S
•
•
•
•
•

Respect for others and develop mutual trust.
Honesty, complete fairness and integrity in dealing
with issues.
Selfless discharge of duties.
Full accountability to the organisation and its
stakeholders.
Encourage openness and objectivity.
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SAP P ME M B ER S HIP
Full Name of Utility

Status

Abbreviation

Country

Botswana Power Corporation

OP

BPC

Botswana

Electricidade de Mocambique

OP

EDM

Mozambique

Electricity Supply Corporation of Malawi

NP

ESCOM

Malawi

Empresa Nacional de Electricidade

NP

ENE

Angola

Eskom

OP

Eskom

South Africa

Lesotho Electricity
i
Corporation

OP

LEC

Lesotho

NamPower

OP

Nam Power

Namibia

Societe Nationale d’Electricite

OP

SNEL

DRC

Swaziland Electricity Company

OP

SEC

Swaziland

Tanzania Electricity Supply Company Ltd

NP

TANESCO

Tanzania

ZESCO Limited

OP

ZESCO

Zambia

Copperbelt Energy Cooperation

ITC

CEC

Zambia

Lunsemfwa Hydro Power Company

IPP

LHPC

Zambia

Zimbabwe Electricity Supply Authority

OP

ZESA

Zimbabwe

OP = Operating Member
NP = Non-Operating Member
ITC = Independent Transmission Company
IPP = Independent Power Producer
SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

3

ABOUT SA PP
The SAPP was created in August 1995 at the SADC summit
held in Kempton Park, South Africa, when member
governments of SADC (excluding Mauritius) signed an
Inter-Governmental Memorandum of Understanding for
the formation of an electricity power pool in the region
under the name of the Southern African Power Pool.
The ministers responsible for energy in the SADC region
signed the Revised Inter-Governmental Memorandum of
Understanding on 23 February 2006.

Operating Sub-Committee and the Planning SubCommittee under a Management Committee which in
turn reports to the Executive Committee. The Markets
Sub-Committee is a new sub-committee that was created
in April 2007 following the signing of theRevised InterUtilityMemorandum of Understandingby the SAPP
Executive Committee on 25 April 2007. Also created in
April 2007 is the Coordination Centre Board to govern the
activities of the SAPP Coordination Centre.

The SAPP is governed by four agreements: the InterGovernmental Memorandum of Understanding which
enabled the establishment of SAPP; the Inter-Utility
Memorandum of Understanding, which established
SAPP’s basic management and operating principles;
the Agreement Between Operating Members which
established the specific rules of operation and pricing;
and the Operating Guidelines, which provide standards
and operating guidelines. The SAPP Agreement Between
Operating Members and the Operating Guidelines are
under review.

The SAPP coordinate the planning and operation of the
electric power system among member utilities.
The SAPP provide a forum for regional solutions to electric
energy problems.
The SAPP established the Short-Term Energy Market
in April 2001. From January 2004, the SAPP started the
development of a competitive electricity market for the
SADC region. The new market is in form of a day-ahead
market (DAM).

The SAPP has twelve member countries represented by
their respective electric power utilities organised through
SADC.
The SAPP has four working committees: the Environmental
Sub-Committee, the Markets Sub-Committee, the

4
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The main achievements for the period under
consideration, i.e. 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013,
were as follows:

1. Growth in generation capacity

3. Priority Transmission Projects

Capacity equivalent to 1,061 MW was commissioned in
2012 as follows: Angola (340MW), DRC (120MW), Namibia
(92MW), Mozambique (100MW), Tanzania (100MW), South
Africa (303MW) and Zambia (37MW) from rehabilitation
and new projects against an annual target of 1,232 MW.
The SAPP plans to commission 2,321 MW in 2013. The
region will have sufficient generation capacity reserves
after 2016 if all projects are commissioned as planned.
Energy adequacy will be achieved by 2017. Generation
reserve margin will reach 12.3 % in 2016 and 16% in 2017.
A total of approximately 17,000MW of new generation is
expected to be commissioned between the period 2013
to 2016 of which 3% will be renewable energy (wind and
solar).
As part of the short term measures, a number of
rehabilitation and generation projects are being
undertaken to address the generation supply gap. Up to
17,000 MW is planned between 2013 and 2016. In 2013,
the SAPP plans to install 2,321 MW most of which will
be in Angola (389MW), Botswana (600MW), South Africa
(923MW) and Zambia (230MW). In 2014 the Region plans
to install 4,670 MW with the bulk of it in South Africa and
Angola while in 2015 and 2016 the Region intents to
install 5,093 MW and 5,122 MW with the bulk of it installed
in Angola, South Africa and Tanzania. The table below
shows the details of the Planned Generation projects to
be commissioned in each country up to 2016.

Table-1: Committed Rehabilitation and New Generation Projects
with secured funding [2013-2016]
No

Country

Committed Generation Capacity, MW
2013
389

2014
640

2015
550

2016
1,246

TOTAL

1

Angola

2

Botswana

600

-

-

300

900

3

DRC

55

-

580

-

635

4

Lesotho

-

-

35

-

35

5

Malawi

64

-

-

-

64

6

Mozambique

-

150

300

300

750

2,825

7

Namibia

8

RSA

9

Swaziland

-

-

-

-

10

Tanzania

60

160

500

1,110

1,830

11

Zambia

230

180

435

494

1,339

12

Zimbabwe

-

300

30

300

4,535

5,093

5,122

630
17,071

TOTAL

-

-

120

50

170

923

3,105

2,543

1,322

7,893

2,321

peak demand, suppressed demand and reserves. This
gives a regional capacity shortfall of 7,709 MW. Electricity
demand increased by a weighted average of 2.5% per
annum.

-

i) Zambia-Tanzania-Kenya: TANESCO secured funding for
phase-1 and construction is on-going for the IringaShinyanga 400-kV interconnector. Feasibility studies have
been completed for the Singida-Arusha portion with
funding from the government of Norway. For the Iringa to
Mbeya portion, the feasibility studies are on-going under
World Bank financing. The conceptual design is to be ready
by October 2013. On the Zambian side, construction of
the line up to Kasama has started.
ii) Mozambiqu-Malawi: Although the project is a priority for
the two Governments and has been on the agenda for a
long time there have been delays in its implementation.
The SADC Secretariat undertook a misssion to Malawi
and Mozambique in August 2010 to consult at ministerial
level with the aim of understanding the issues affecting
the project and how SADC might assist to accelerate
its implementation. Since then the MozambiqueMalawi interconnection Agreement that will guide the
interconnection of the two power systems, was signed in
Lilongwe on April 3, 2013 witnessed by the Mozambique
and Malawi Head of States. Following the signature
of the Agreement, Mozambique submitted a formal
request for funding the project to World Bank, Norwegian
Government, African Development Bank and European
Investment Bank for their consideration while Malawi is
yet to submit theirs. Taking into consideration that the
original Feasibility Study was done long time ago, the
parties agreed that there is a need of updating the studies
once the support from the partners has been granted.
iii) Namibia-Angola Interconnector: the project has been
identified as a priority project as it will result in the
interconnection of Angola, which is a member of SAPP, to
the overall SAPP interconnected electricity grid. The terms
of reference for the feasibility studies were formulated by
the SAPP-CC and were sent to both Angola and Namibia
for comments. Comments were received from Namibia
and Angola is yet to comment as internal consultations
are on-going against the background of the review of the
country’s electricity master plan. The new proposal is that
the SAPP-CC should revise the terms of reference for the
project and to re-submit to both countries for comments
within three weeks.

2. Growth in demand

iv) ZIZABONA: The project was launched at the Investors

As at 31st March 2013, SAPP had an available capacity of
51,702 MW against a demand of 53,833 MW that includes

Round Table that took place on 12 July 2012 and officially
opened by Prime Minister of Namibia. Market and
technical studies, the transmission charge methodology,
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financial modelling, project packaging, SPV structure
and the Project Information Memorandum (PIM) were
presented. Responses in the form of debt contributions
were pledged. The IGMOU has been signed by the
four Governments of Botswana, Namibia, Zambia and
Zimbabwe. The Joint Development Agreement (JDA)
has been signed by NamPower, ZESA and ZESCO. BPC is
finalising internal approvals and consultation. Eskom and
CEC have been approached to take up shareholding in the
SPV. The project financial closure is set for the end of 2013
with commercial operation targeted for 2016.

i) Central Transmission Corridor: The project objective is to
increase wheeling capacity through the ZESA network.
The project is broken down into a number of components:
a. Marvel-Insukamini line: Designs done and tendering is
in progress;
b. New SVC at Sherwood: Tender progress completed;
c. Alaska-Sherwood line: Revisiting EIA for tendering; and
d. Orange Grove-Triangle line: To proceed with contract
negotiations.

between 8:30 PM to 9:30 PM. This is a global initiative
against climate change where savings were measured
due to initiatives taken during that hour, 629MW was
saved during that period.
ii) Most utilities have taken initiatives to phase out PCBs as
per the Stockholm Convention. SEC and HCB have installed
temporary facilities following a visit to ZESCO to gain
on their experience. Under the UNEP Project utilities are
requested to contribute 2/3 towards financing the project
which is high for most utilities. Utilities have submitted the
requested information to UNEP. The SAPP CC facilitated
a workshop on PCB handling and Management for
Engineers and Technicians in ESCOM Malawi in January
2013.
iii) SAPP Member Utilities want to increase the contribution
of renewable energy in their generation mix. The SAPP
plans to develop “SAPP Position on Renewable Energy”.

4. Environmental Issues
i) The SAPP observed the 2013 Climate Change Earth
Hour which took take place on Saturday 23 March 2013

6
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S A P P E X E C U T I V E C O M M ITTEE

Mr. Augusto De Sousa Fernando,
EDM

Mr. John Kandulu
ESCOM

Mr. José Carlos Santos Neves
ENE

Mr. Brian Dames
Eskom

Mr Mbele Hoohlo
LEC

Mr. Paulinus Shilamba
NamPower

Mr. Eric Musanda
SNEL

Mr Sengiphile Simelane
SEC

Mr Felchesmi Mramba
TANESCO

Mr. Cyprian Chitundu
ZESCO

Mr. Josh Chifamba
ZESA

Mr. Owen Silavwe
Managing Director
CEC

Mr. Katai Kachasa
LHPC

Mr. Jacob Raleru
BPC
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Botswana-Namibia Transmission Project, (ZIZABONA),
Mozambique-Malawi Interconnector, Central Transmission
Corridor (CTC), the Namibia-Angola Interconnector and
Zambia-Tanzania-Kenya Interconnector with a view
to complete the region’s interconnectivity and relieve
congestion on the regional grid to facilitate electricity
trading.

1.4 Ministerial Resolution

Mr. Jacob Raleru
Chief Executive Officer of BPC
Executive Committee Chairperson
1. Power Supply
1.1 Peak demand and Available capacity
As at 31 March 2013, SAPP had an available capacity of
51,702 MW against a demand of 53,833 MW inclusive of
peak demand, suppressed demand and reserves. This
gives a regional capacity shortfall of 7,709 MW. Electricity
demand increased by a weighted average of 2.5% per
annum. A total capacity equivalent to 1,099 MW was
commissioned in 2012 as follows: in Angola (340 MW),
DRC (120 MW), Namibia (92 MW), Mozambique (107 MW),
Tanzania (100 MW), South Africa (303 MW) and Zambia (37
MW) from rehabilitation and new projects.

1.2 Planned Generation Capacity
The region plans to commission 2,321 MW in 2013 and
that it will have sufficient generation capacity reserves
after 2016 if all projects are commissioned as planned
while energy adequacy will be achieved by 2017. A total of
approximately 17,000MW of new generation is expected
to be commissioned between the period 2013 to 2016 of
which 3% will be renewable energy from wind and solar.
Meanwhile, the SAPP Executive Committee have noted
that the two SADC Member States, DR Congo and the
Republic of South Africa, signed an MOU in November
2011, which provides for the negotiation of a Treaty that
would create a framework for facilitating power generation
at Inga site and its delivery to the markets.

1.3 Priority Transmission projects
The SAPP Executive Committee has resolved to fast
track implementation of interconnector and regional
transmission projects such as: Zimbabwe-Zambia-

8

The Ministers responsible for energy in the SADC region
have resolved to provide necessary government support
in order to accelerate project implementation and press
for completion of electricity projects according to the
planned timelines to ensure that the stated targets are
met.

2. Executive Committee Meetings
2.1 33rd Executive Committee Meeting
The 33rd SAPP Executive Committee meeting was
officially opened by the Minister of Energy and Power
Development of Zimbabwe, Honourable Elton Mangoma.
He recalled that the SADC Infrastructure Master Plan was
adopted by the SADC Heads of States in August 2012.
He also reiterated that the Government of Zimbabwe
was committed to the successful operation of SAPP. He
highlighted the key development projects in Zimbabwe
that included the Kariba South extension and the Hwange
Power Station expansion. He noted the regional projects
that Zimbabwe was participating in that included the
Batoka Hydro Power Project where Zambia and Zimbabwe
have embarked on the project with a total capacity of
1600 - 2000 MW. The project was being spearheaded by
the Zambezi River Authority under the BOT basis. He also
cited the Grand Inga project as a potential regional project
that can benefit SADC countries.

2.2 34th Executive Committee Meeting
The 34th SAPP Executive Committee meetings were held
in Maputo, Mozambique, on 20 March 2013, a day after the
Management Committee planning strategic workshop
that was held on the 19th of March 2013.
The Executive Committee meetings were officially
opened by the Deputy Minister of Energy of Mozambique.
The Deputy Minister narrated the plans that Mozambique
had to generate power in the north and transport it to the
load centre in the south via the proposed transmission
backbone (STE).

3. Official Opening of the SAPP-CC Offices in Harare,
Zimbabwe

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

EXE C U T I V E C O M M I T T E E C H A I R M A N ’ S R E P ORT

Members of the SAPP Executive Committee pose for a photo at the
new SAPP-CC offices in Harare

The Energy Trading Officer, Mr Mutabudzi, demonstrating the
operations of the DAM Trading Platform

The SAPP Executive Committee met in Harare, Zimbabwe,
on 19 October 2012, to officially open the new SAPP
Coordination Centre offices. The new offices are the official
headquarters of the SAPP. The new SAPP Head Office has
now been equiped with the following systems:
1. The new day-ahead market (DAM) Trading Platform that
was designed by Nord Pool of Norway and Enerweb of
South Africa. Nord Pool of Norway has now been bought
by NASDAQ of the USA and they are the new service
provider.

4. New Committee Members
4.1 New Management in ESCOM
Mr. Peter Mtonda, the Corporation’s Director of Distribution
and Customer Services, took over from Mr. Arthur G
Mandambwe as Acting Chief Executive Officer of ESCOM
Malawi. Mr. John Kandulu was appointed Chief Executive
Officer.

2. The EMS/SCADA system designed by a consortium of
AREVA (France) and ACTOM (South Africa). This has enbled
the SAPP to view tie-line flows in real time.
3. Other IT software include PSS/E for planning, PLEXOS
for updating of the SAPP Pool Plan, MATLAB, software for
calculation of transmission wheeling charges using the
MW-km method, etc.

Mr. John Kandulu
Chief Executive Officer
ESCOM Malawi

5. Acknowledgement

Entrance to the SAPP-CC new offices

I would like to take this opportunity and thank the
members of the SAPP Executive Committee for the
support that I have received from them whilst I was
Chairperson of the SAPP Executive Committee during the
year under consideration. I would also like to thank the
SAPP Coordination Centre for the work done during the
same period.

Mr. Jacob Raleru
Chairperson, Executive Committee
SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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2. Project Peer Review
The SADC Energy Thematic Group (ETG) meeting was held
in Gaborone, Botswana, on 27 February 2013. The SAPP
and the Government of Norway used the opportunity to
sign the Grant Agreement that gives the SAPP financial
support for three years from March 2013 to February 2016.
The agreement covers among other components the
SAPP Project Peer Review exercise for assessing project
readiness using a common methodology.

Mr. Mongezi Ntsokolo
ESKOM (South Africa)
Management Committee Chairperson
1 April 2012 up to 30 September 2012

1. Introduction
The year under review has been quite a productive year.
A number of objectives were met which include the
short term objectives in the demand side management
and energy efficiency areas where 850 MW were saved
from. SAPP surpassed the energy efficiency target set for
2012/13 from the installation of energy efficient bulbs. This
is quite commendable as the region is operating under
a tight reserve margin. This success has now instilled all
utilities to implement this program as it is a low hanging
fruit.
The long term generation supply strategies are adequately
monitored and most generation projects are on track
except for a few that were delayed due to various reasons
that includes industrial action by workers. A total of 1100
MW of new generation capacity was installed during the
year under review.
With the continued introduction of renewable energy
technologies that includes wind and solar into the
generation mix, SAPP has been proactive in this area by
setting up the Renewable Energy Working Group. On the
electrification roadmap a special Task Force was also setup
to spearhead the activities.
Work has also started on developing a long term strategic
network plan for SAPP. This is vital to determine the
reliability of the transmission corridors in SAPP.

The Norwegian Ambassador to Mozambique, Her Excellency Tove
Bruvik Westberg and Dr Lawrence Musaba of SAPP, signing two
copies of the grant agreement

3. Demand Side Management
2,305 MW savings were achieved against a target of 3,200
MW which represents a success rate of 72% for the overall
program for savings between 2009 and 2012. The target is
to implement 1,920 MW from 2013 to 2015. The Compact
Fluorescent Lamp (CFL) program exceeded target by 36%
followed by the Hot Water Load Control program which
is at 56% of target. The Solar Water Heater (SWH) is at
12 % while the Commercial Lighting is at 4% of target.
Significant efforts are being made to increase the use of
SWH and commercial lighting programs.
3500
3000
2500
3000
1500

The Day Ahead Market trading volumes are still low due
to a number of challenges that includes transmission
congestion. A number of options are under discussion to
address this.
I would like to emphasise that it is important to prepare for
the future while meeting the needs of the present in our
planning and operations.

1000
500
0
CFL

HWLC

SWH
Actual

Commercial
Lighting

Total

Target

Diagram 1:SAPP Demand Side Power Station, MW
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4. Management Committee Strategic Planning Workshop

5.2 39th SAPP Management Committee Meetings

The SAPP Management Committee held a strategic
planning workshop in Maputo, Mozambique. The
workshop was meant to focus on the successes and
failures of SAPP and identify areas of improvement. The
workshop focused on the strategic plan for SAPP and the
Management Committee is following up on the issued
identified.

The 39th SAPP meetings were held at the Arusha
International Conference Centre in Arusha, Tanzania
on 3-6 September 2012. The meetings discussed the
SAPP demand and supply situation, status on project
implementation, SAPP market performance, transmission
access and pricing, system operational and environmental
issues.

5. Meetings and Workshops

5.3 Crime Prevention Working Group Meeting

5.1 Demand Side Management Working Group Visit to USA

The Crime Prevention Working Group held a meeting in
Harare, Zimbabwe from 7 to 8 March 2013. The meeting
proposed to form a network Equipment Crime Task
Team to be chaired by CEC of Zambia. Other members
of the task team would be drawn from ZESA, Eskom,
EDM and ESCOM. The mandate of this
team
is
largely to formulate a communication strategy and deal
with cross border crime perpetrated against the SAPP
utilities infrastructure. The task team would also see the
implementation of high level strategies to mitigate cross
border network equipment crime.

USAID sponsored a team from the SAPP Demand
Side Management Working Group to participate in an
exchange visit to the USA from 27 July to 5 August 2012.
The companies vistied includes the following:
•
National Grid in Boston
•
Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources
•
NSTAR Electric and Gas
•
Pacific Gas and Electric Company University of
California Davis Energy Efficiency Center
•
Site visit to a PV facility
A number of energy efficiency programs being
implemented we presented that include the CFL program,
commercial and industrial programs, energy start
appliance programs and customer incentive programs.
A number of key lessons were learnt which include the
need for customer behavioural change that needs to be
encouraged, measurement and verification of energy
saving is done by a third party. The factors that contribute
to success include good legislative frameworks, regulatory
structures

SAPP delegates at NSTAR in Boston, USA

5.4 40th SAPP Management Committee Meeting
The 40th SAPP meetings were held in Mangochi, Malawi,
at the Nkopola Lodge from 11-15 February
2013. The meetings were officially opened by the Minister
of Energy of the Republic of Malawi, Hon. Ibrahim Matola,
MP.

Eng. Julian Chinembiri, The SAPP Management Committee
Chairperson officially opening the Crime Prevention Working Group
meeting in March 2013.

and regulatory alignment. Incentives are given to utilities
when they meet targets.

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

11

MAN AGE M ENT C OM MIT T EE C H A I R M A N ’ S R E P O RT

Honourable Minister of Energy of the Republic of Malawi, Hon.
Ibrahim Matola MP, officially opening the SAPP meetings
In his opening speech, the Minister stated that in
Malawi, the Government was committed to ensure that
a number of projects and programs are implemented so
as to reduce the amount of load shedding and improve
economic development and electrification access since
the electrification rate in Malawi is still low.
He also stated that the Government of Malawi and the
Government of Mozambique have restarted deliberations
on the Mozambique-Malawi Interconnector Project and
that a number of meetings have been held. The aim was
to have Malawi interconnected to the rest of the SAPP Grid
so that Malawi could benefit from regional integration.

Mr. Julian Chinembiri
Incoming Management Committee Chairperson

6. Acknowledgement
I would like to take this opportunity and thank the
outgoing Management Committee Chairperson, Mr.
Mongezi Ntsokolo for his leadership in the previous year.
I would also like to express my appreciation to members
of the Management Committee for electing me to
Chairperson of the Management Committee.

Mr. Mongezi Ntsokolo
Management Committee Chairperson

Members of the Management Committee and the
Minister of Energy of the Republic of Malawi pose for a
group photo
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The pie chart below shows the current installed capacity
by generation technology.

3.2 Overall Demand and Energy Forecast

Mr. Michel Muamba
(SNEL, DRC) Planning Sub-Committee Chairperson

1. Introduction
Supply and demand for power will continue to change
as new generating stations and transmission lines are
built. The Planning Subcommittee continues to advise on
the reliable operation of the interconnected grid. SAPP
continues to coordinate and evaluate power system
information including generation and transmission
project tracking. The SAPP Pool Plan review process was
finalized which highlights steps to be taken before the
Pool Plan can be revised to among other things, ensure
ownership of the outcome of the Pool Plan review.

2. SAPP Key Figures and Facts
•
•
•
•

Figure1: SAPP Installed Capacity by Technology

The utilities prepare their forecasts independently. The
aggregated SAPP demand and energy is forecast to
increase at an average of 3.1 % per annum as shown in the
graph below.
Demand,GW

Energy,TW h

90

600

80

550

70

Electricity demand growth was an average of 2.5 %
per annum.
SAPP installed capacity is 57,182 MW.
SAPP suppressed demand and peak demand was
53,833 MW.
New generation capacity amounting to 1099 MW
was commissioned in 2012.

Details of the utility statistics are contained in the statistics
section of this report.
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Figure 2: Utility Demand and Energy Forecasts

3. SAPP Demand and Supply Situation
There is virtually no load diversity in SAPP as most utilities
peak almost at the same time.

3.1 Current Power Supply Situation
As at 31st May 2013, SAPP had an available capacity of
51,702 MW against a demand of 53,833 MW that includes
peak demand, suppressed demand and reserves. This
gives a regional capacity shortfall of 7,709 MW. Electricity
demand increased by a weighted average of 2.5% per
annum.

3.3 Generation Supply and Project Tracking
A total capacity equivalent to 1,099 MW was commissioned
in 2012 against an annual target of 1,232 MW.
The generation projects commissioned in 2012 are shown

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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in the table below:

4. Transmission Pricing and Wheeling Arrangements
The Transmission Pricing Task Team met in Harare,
Zimbabwe from 29 to 30 May 2012 to discuss the
transmission wheeling arrangements in SAPP.
Utilities use different cost of supply methodologies to
determine the electricity tariffs.

Table 1: Generation Projects Commissioned in 2012
SAPP plans to commission 57,000MW in the next 20 years.

Table 2: Committed Generation Projects Planned
2013 to 2016

Figure 3: Installed Capacity by Generation Technology
2013 to 2016

(Diagram 4: Utility electricity average tariffs

3.4 Security of Supply

5. Transmission Interconnector Projects

Up to 17,000 MW is planned between 2013 and 2016. In
2013 the region plans to install 2,321 MW most of which
will be in Angola (389 MW), Botswana (600 MW), South
Africa (923 MW) and Zambia (230 MW). In 2014 the Region
plans to install 4,670 MW with the bulk of it in South Africa
and Angola while in 2015 and 2016 the Region intents to
install 5,093 MW and 5,122 MW with the bulk of it installed
in Angola, South Africa and Tanzania. The table below
shows the details of the Planned Generation projects to
be commissioned in each country up to 2016.

The SAPP is to develop a strategic network plan for SAPP
to enable long term network for load and generation in
the region. SAPP will identify transmission corridors.

14

The key outcomes from the strategic network plan would
include the following:
•
•
•

Identification of Strategic Transmission Corridors in
SAPP.
Identify unlocking of load and generation projects.
Each SAPP project will build on the strategic network.
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Flexible and robust SAPP Transmission Grid that can
adapt to changing generation and load projects.
Stable and secure future network.
Review network voltages to be used over long
distances.

be done in conjunction with the power transmission line
connecting Central and Southern regions of the country
hence the proposed Mozambique Regional Transmission
Backbone Project named Socidade Nacional de Transporte
de Energie (STE).

The SAPP priority transmission projects are categorized
as follows: i) outstanding transmission interconnectors
whose aim is to interconnect non-operating members
of SAPP to the SAPP grid; ii) transmission interconnectors
aimed at relieving congestion on the SAPP grid; and iii)
new transmission projects aimed to evacuate power from
new generating stations to load centres. The status of key
transmission projects is highlighted below:

The Environmental Impact Assessment studies (EIAs) for
the transmission line have been concluded and approved
by the Government. The shareholder structure has been
done. The STE is the vital project for Mphanda Nkuwa
and the development of the two projects requires a close
coordination and alignment. Currently, there is a process
of reviewing the shareholder structure to be concluded
by May 2013 after the signature of the Joint Development
Agreement followed by the implementation of the project.

•
•
•

5.1 Zimbabwe - Zambia – Botswana –Namibia
Interconnector (ZIZABONA)

5.4 Central Transmission Corridor

The four power utilities from Zimbabwe (ZESA), Zambia
(ZESCO), Botswana (BPC) and Namibia (NamPower) intend
to develop the ZIZABONA Interconnector project.

The project objective is to increase wheeling capacity
through the ZESA network. The project is broken down
into a number of components:

The project was launched at the Investors Round
Table that took place on 12 July 2012 and officially
opened by Prime Minister of Namibia. Market and
technical studies, the transmission charge methodology,
financial modeling, project packaging, SPV structure
and the Project Information Memorandum (PIM) were
presented. Responses in the form of debt contributions
were pledged. The IGMOU has been signed by the
four Governments of Botswana, Namibia, Zambia and
Zimbabwe. The Joint Development Agreement (JDA)
has been signed by NamPower, ZESA and ZESCO. BPC is
finalising internal approvals and consultation. Eskom and
CEC were approached to take up shareholding in the SPV
but deferred decision pending outcome of issues they
raised. The project financial closure is set for the end of
2013 with commercial operation targeted for 2016.

•

5.2 Zambia – Tanzania – Kenya Interconnector
TANESCO secured funding for phase 1 and construction is
ongoing for the Iringa – Shinyanga 400 kV interconnector.
Feasibility studies have been completed for the Singida
– Arusha portion with funding from the government of
Norway. For the Iringa to Mbeya portion, the feasibility
studies are ongoing under World Bank financing. The
conceptual design is to be ready by October 2013. On the
Zambian side, construction of the line up to Kasama has
started.

5.3 Mozambique Transmission Backbone Project (STE)
The Mozambique Generation Master Plan identifies the
development of Mphanda Nkuwa Hydropower Project
(MNHP) and Cahora Bassa North Hydropower project to

•
•
•

Marvel - Insukamini line: Designs done and tendering
is in progress;
New SVC at Sherwood: Tender progress completed;
Alaska - Sherwood line: Revisiting EIA for tendering;
and
Orange Grove - Triangle line: To proceed with contract
negotiations.

5.5 Mozambique Malawi Interconnector
The project has now been given more priority and a
number of meetings took place. The Memorandum
of Agreement between Mozambique and Malawi was
signed.

5.6 DRC Zambia 220kV Interconnector
This is the Karavia - Luano 220 kV interconnector.
Construction work started on DRC side. CEC is to re-tender
on a fast track basis due to the increase in cost by the
current contractor. Construction would start during the
second quarter of 2013. Commissioning still planned for
June 2013 on the DRC side.

5.7 Botswana North West Transmission Project
Botswana North West Transmission project: The project
aims to connect the north western side of Botswana to
the national grid. The feasibility study for the project was
completed in January 2013. Evaluation of various funding
options is on-going.
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5.8 Namibia Angola Interconnector
The project has been identified as a priority project as it will
result in the interconnection of Angola, to the overall SAPP
interconnected electricity grid. The terms of reference for
the feasibility studies were formulated by the SAPP-CC
and were sent to both Angola and Namibia for comments.
Comments were received from Namibia and Angola is yet
to comment.

6. Technical Issues
6.1 Needs Assessment Study on Energy Efficiency in SAPP
The SAPP Needs Assessment Workshop was convened
on 26 April, 2012 in Johannesburg. The workshop was
convened to deliberate on the draft report by a consultant
on the SAPP Energy Efficiency needs assessment following
a study done in the region.The needs were evaluated
and recommendations were done based on suitability,
acceptability, feasibility. The projects were grouped into
four categories:
•
•
•
•

High priority
Medium priority
Low priority and
Fail

High priority projects were identified as distribution
losses, Measurement and Verification (M&V) while
medium priority projects were identified as generation
dispatch, energy trading, hydropower rehabilitation, coal
rehabilitation, Energy Efficiency Obligations and awareness
campaigns. Projects that fell into the low priority category
are Solar Water Heaters, Energy audits and smart metering.
The report is still to be finalised following the workshop.
The Needs Assesssment Study on Energy Efficiency in SAPP
second workshop was held in Johannesburg on 27 July
2012. The main outcome of the workshop was to agree on
the prioritization of the interventions and programs. The
main ones that were classified as high to medium proirity
include the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Distribution losses
Measerement and Verification
Awareneess Campaigns (Library)
Regional Negawatts
Generation Dispatch
Energy Trading in SAPP
Coal and hydro rehabilitation
Energy Effficency Obligations
Tariff setting principles

7. Meetings and Workshops
7.1 Transmission Planning WG
From 28 to 29 November, 2012, the Transmission
Planning Working Group (TPWG) held a meeting at SAPP
Coordination Centre in Harare, Zimbabwe. The working
group discussed various generation and transmission
projects in SAPP. The working group updated the PSSETM
base case for the SAPP interconnected power system. The
working group also did preliminary calculation of power
transfer limits on various SAPP interconnectors and critical
transmission paths.

8. Acknowledgements
Delegates at the SAPP Energy Efficiency Needs assessment in
Johannesburg on 26 April, 2012

I would like to take this opportunity to thank members of
the SAPP Planning Sub-Committee for having confidence
in me by appointing me as Chair for the second term.

Mr. Michel Muamba
Planning Sub Committee Chairperson

Some members of the TPWG at the meeting
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team which was doing the revision. The OSC noted
that introduction of sanctions or penalties for noncompliance needed careful preparation. Application
and implementation of the penalties were discussed at
a special meeting held in December, 2012. Operating
Members evaluated readiness of various support systems
and from 1 March, 2013, implemented a trial monitoring
and reporting of non-compliance. The revised Operating
Guidelines was due to be submitted to Management
Committee in April, 2013, for approval.

4. System Disturbances

Mr. Ntelane Sello
LEC (Lesotho)
Operating Sub-Committee Chairperson

Refer to figure below for a general outlook of SAPP system
disturbances. Main causes of the system disturbances were
adverse weather conditions (especially in the rainy season)
and failure of auxiliary systems and equipment. The SAPP
also recorded disturbances induced from distribution
systems. Refer to Appendix 1 for summary descriptions of
some reported system disturbances.

1. Introduction
In the year under review (April 2012 to March 2013), the
SAPP Operating Sub-Committee (OSC) held one special
meeting on revision of the Operating Guidelines and two
normal meetings. The OSC discussed system disturbances,
maintenance schedules, power system operations
discipline, and progress reports from working groups. The
working groups cover telecommunications, revision of
the operating guidelines, implementation of the control
performance standards, and quality of power supply. Such
cross-cutting issues as energy interchange management
and Control Area services were discussed at joint meetings
with the Markets Sub-Committee. This report covers the
key outcome or results of OSC activities.

2. System Demand Situation
In the year under review, the aggregate recorded peak load
for SAPP Operating Members was 43,441MW, out of which
the recorded peak load for Eskom of South Africa was
35,896MW. Compared to the previous year, the aggregate
SAPP interconnected system load grew by 163MW
whereas that for Eskom reduced by 647MW. The recorded
system loads were well below the system demand. SAPP
Members implemented various load reduction activities
including load-shedding, especially during peak periods.
Demand side load management was carried out mainly
due to power supply constraints and occasionally due to
transmission and other constraints.

3. Revision of the SAPP Operating Guidelines
In September, 2012, the OSC received the final draft of
the revised SAPP Operating Guidelines from the task

Reported SAPP System Disturbances

5. Control Performance Standards
In August, 2011, OSC formed a task team to oversee
implementation of measurement, monitoring and
reporting of the new Control Performance Standards (CPS1,
CPS2 and DCS) adopted from North American Electric
Reliability Corporation (NERC). The task team determined
specific input parameters for SAPP, prepared and evaluated
necessary support systems, and implemented a one-year
trial from 1 January to 31 December, 2012. Results showed
good system disturbance control but unsatisfactory
control performance, especially for CPS1. To improve
control performance, Operating Members undertook
various mitigation measures such as keeping adequate
operating reserves and upgrading governor control
systems at key power stations, notably Kariba South in
Zimbabwe and Kafue Gorge in Zambia.

6. Telecommunication
Telecommunication issues on the SAPP interconnected
system are currently overseen by the Telecommunications
Working Group (TWG). In the year under review, the TWG
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met twice. Progress made in linking gaps in the SAPP optic
fibre network was tracked and discussed. It was noted
that the gap in fibre optic network in Namibia was linked.
Also, the installation of fibre on the gap in Zimbabwe
was completed, pending commissioning. Eskom and
BPC were preparing business cases to link the remaining
gaps in their areas. Meanwhile, the contract of the VSAT
telecommunications network among the three Control
Areas and SAPP Coordination Centre is still active up to
March, 2015.

One of the operator stations of the SAPP System Viewer at SAPP
Coordination Centre.

Some TWG members at a meeting in
Windhoek, Namibia, in November, 2012.

One monitor showing the SAPP System Viewer at the Reception
Area.

7. The SAPP System Viewer

9. WAMPACS

The SAPP Coordination Centre in Harare was able to
monitor system frequency, voltage levels and power flows
of some interconnectors using the SAPP System Viewer.
Periodic reports on inadvertent energy flow were being
generated. However, satisfactory performance of the SAPP
System Viewer was impeded by poor reliability of VSAT
telecommunications system and frequent stoppages of
the ICCP (Inter-Control Centre Communications Protocol)
processes. Then, from December, 2012, up to the end of
the year under review, the SAPP System Viewer was out of
service due to hardware failure of two main servers, which
were then sent for repairs.

In an endeavour to continuously improve the reliability of
the SAPP interconnected system, the OSC pursued further
the possibility of implementation of WAMPACS (Wide Area
Monitoring, Protection and Control of Power Systems)
in the SAPP. One Operating Member, Eskom, already
implemented a pilot project of Wide Area Monitoring
Systems (WAMS). The OSC organised a training workshop
on WAMPACS in Johannesburg, Republic of South Africa,
from 14 to 17 May, 2012. The training was delivered by
Eskom. Engineers from almost all SAPP member utilities
were given general information on the systems and
trained on how to specify, procure, test and install the
systems. The strategy now is to identify critical nodes
on the interconnected system for installation of phasor
measurement units (PMUs).

8. SAPP Traders and Controllers Forum
The 9th SAPP Energy Traders and System Controllers
Forum was held in Kitwe, Zambia, from 10 to 11 October,
2012. Energy Traders and System Controllers discussed
various issues of energy interchange and trading and
system control such as participation on the Day Ahead
Market, system disturbances, and how to improve
communication from one Control Centre to another. They
also reviewed terms of reference of the forum. Thereafter,
they toured the Control Centre of the Copperbelt Energy
Corporation (CEC) in Kitwe.

Participants preparing a typical WAMPACS set-up from Substation to
Control Room during a laboratory session.
18

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

O P E R AT I N G S U B - C O M M I T T E E R E PORT
10. Acknowledgements
In the year under review, like in the previous
few years, the SAPP continued experiencing
the state of power supply deficit. Further, most
transmission corridors had no or very little
margins to transfer limits. I would like to thank
OSC members and system operations personnel
who worked very hard to keep the power system
in service.

Mr. Ntelane Sello
Operating Sub-Committee Chairperson
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Community (SADC). Nine national power utilities are
interconnected and hence can trade among each other
while the other three namely ENE of Angola, ESCOM of
Malawi and TANESCO of Tanzania are not interconnected
and hence cannot trade regionally. Two are independent
power producers while the other two are independent
transmission companies. All these are interconnected
bringing the total number of members that can trade
among each other to thirteen (13).

Mr Lion Mashiri
ZESA (Zimbabwe)
Markets Sub Committee Chairperson

1. Introduction.
It is now just over three years since the SAPP competitive
Day Ahead Market (DAM) was opened for live trading
on the 15th of December 2009. A lot was achieved on
the implementation of the SAPP DAM market since its
inception in 2009. Credit should be given to the Markets
Sub Committee (MSC) under the leadership of my last
two predecessors Mr Michael Barry and Mr Adérito Sousa
whose chairmanship saw the SAPP market grow from
strength to strength before I took over following my
election as MSC chairperson in September 2012. It is with
great pleasure to report on the SAPP market activities in
general and specifically for the year ended 31st March
2013.
Trading in SAPP is very critical as it is one of the major
reasons the SAPP was established. Through trading, SAPP
members share the gains in an effort to optimise the
limited regional generation and transmission resources.
Members also assist each other during emergencies so as
to minimise the impact of load shedding among the SAPP
members.
The SAPP DAM continues to play a pivotal complimentary
role to the traditional bilateral trading arrangements.
Despite efforts being taken by the SAPP, there are still
challenges on the DAM operation and trading in general
that include the general diminishing of generation
capacity, transmission constraints and mismatch of prices
between sellers’ and buyers’ bids. These still need to be
addressed and with the help of our cooperating partners
such as the Government of Norway and Sida, it is my
strong conviction that the dream for a competitive market
in the SAPP will be fully realised.

2. SAPP Current Membership and Trading Arrangements
SAPP currently has a total of sixteen (16) members in
the various categories. Twelve of these are national
power utilities from the Southern African Development
20

The SAPP currently has three trading platforms as
highlighted below:
Bilateral Trading Platform – This is where two SAPP members
trade under the terms and conditions agreed between
the two. SAPP has defined bilateral contracts to be those
contracts that are of one month duration or more. Bilateral
trading arrangements are used mainly to meet long
term demand and supply balance and also to underpin
investments.
Over the Counter Trading – This is similar to bilateral contracts
in the sense that the trading terms and conditions are
agreed between two parties. The main difference between
OTC and bilateral trading arrangements is that OTC trades
are of shorter duration, one month or less. OTC trading in
SAPP is mainly meant to meet short term demand and
supply balance.
SAPP Day Ahead Market Trading Platform – This is a competitive
market where trading is done a day ahead for each of
the following 24 hours. The market is operated by the
SAPP Coordination Centre as the Market Operator. DAM
trading in SAPP is mainly used for optimization of available
generation and transmission resources.
All SAPP members and other players in the electricity
business in the SAPP member countries are entitled to
trade on the DAM market. However non SAPP members
are supposed to be admitted as Market Participants first
before they are allowed to trade in DAM and rules have
been developed for such process. All participants in the
DAM market are supposed to sign the DAM governance
documents that include the DAM Book of Rules and the
Participation Agreement before being allowed to trade in
DAM. To date, a total of ten (10) members have signed the
DAM governance documents and hence are eligible to
participate in the DAM market.
As can be seen from above, the three trading platforms
in SAPP, namely bilateral, OTC and DAM are meant to
complement each other and not to compete against each
other.

3. Trading Participation Levels in SAPP
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3.1 SAPP Bilateral and OTC Trading
All the thirteen (13) interconnected SAPP members are
currently active on the bilateral trading platform. For the
year 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013, the SAPP had a
total of twenty eight (28) registered bilateral contracts.
Eighteen (18) of these were on a firm basis while ten (10)
were on a non firm basis. In all, only fifteen (15) bilateral
contracts were active with the remaining thirteen (13)
being inactive mainly due to generation supply and/or
transmission constraints.

March 2012 when a total of 285.7 GWhr Sale Bids and
525.1GWhr Buy Bids were received. Out of this, a total of
10.4 GWhr was traded or approximately 4% of what was
offered on the market as buy bids and 2% of what was
offered as sale bids. There was a slight increase in buy bids
received and a significant increase in sale offers received in
year 2012/2013 when compared to year 2011/2013.

Figure 4.1 below gives a summary of the sale offers, buy bids
received and traded energy for the period 1st April 2012 to 31st
March 2013.

OTC trading in SAPP is mainly done on a need basis to
take care of members’ needs on a short term basis. This
is usually done to meet short term energy needs and also
to assist each other during emergencies and planned
outages. SAPP Operating members were active on the
OTC trading platform on an ad hoc basis in the year under
review.

3.2 DAM Trading
No applications were received to become Market
Participants during the period April 2012 to March 2013.
As such, the total number of members eligible to trade in
DAM remained at ten (10), a figure also recorded for the
previous year. However on average the total number of
active members on the DAM market for the year under
review was six. This is slightly higher than the five recorded
for the previous year. However only three were active
for most of the time during the year 1st April 2012 to
31st March 2013, a figure that was also recorded for the
previous year.
The SAPP continues to encourage SAPP members and
other eligible players to participate on the market. The
SAPP developed guidelines for participation in the SAPP
DAM market. The main challenge however has been the
single buyer model that exists in most of the member
countries. Regulatory reforms are necessary in order to
allow more participants and the SAPP is working with the
SADC Regional Electricity Regulatory Association (RERA)
on this issue.

4. DAM Market Performance Highlights
4.1 DAM Traded Volumes
A total of around 790.0 GWhr Sale Bids and 505.5 GWhr
Buy Bids were received for the year beginning 1st April
2012 to 31st March 2013. Out of this, a total of around
23.8 GWhr was traded on DAM which translates to around
3% of energy that was offered on the market as sale bids
and 4% of what was offered as buy bids. The DAM market
however recorded an increase when compared to the
previous year covering the period 1st April 2011 to 31st

There was no trading during the months of January and
February 2013 though there were matched volumes
that could not be traded due to transmission constraints.
Trading continued to be affected by transmission
constraints which saw a total of 139.6 GWhr or 85% of the
163.2 GWhr that was matched failing to be traded due
to transmission constraints. A total of 1,502.8 GWhr Sale
Bids and 1,296.7 GWhr Buy Bids were received to date on
the DAM market since the market went live on the 15th
of December 2009. Out of this, a total of only 62.2 GWhr
was traded which translates to only 4.14% of energy that
was offered and 4.79% of energy requested on the market.
Figure 4.2 below gives a summary of sale offers and buy
bids received and the total traded volumes on DAM
trading platform as of 31st March 2013.
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Fig 4.2 Total Energy Offered and Traded on the Market to Date
as of 31st March

Fig 4.3 Average Monthly DAM Market Clearing Prices (MCPs) for
the Year Ended 31st March 2013.
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4.2 DAM Market Clearing Prices (MCPs)
The average DAM market clearing price (MCP) recorded
for the year 2012/13 was 5.893 USc/kWhr which is slightly
higher than 5.555 USc/kWhr recorded the previous year.
The highest monthly average MCP was 8.809 USc/kWhr
which is slightly lower than the 9.368 USc/kWhr recorded
the previous year. Below is a summary of the average
monthly MCP prices for the year ended 31st March 2013.

(MCP) recorded on the DAM market to date, since market
opening is around 4 USc/kWhr with the highest yearly
average MCP to date being 5.893 USc/kWhr recorded in
year 2012/13. Below is a summary of the average yearly
MCP prices to date.

Fig 4.4 Yearly Average MCPs Realized on the Market to Date as
of 31st of March 2013 (USD/MWh).

Similar to what was recorded in the previous year, there
was a general increase of average MCP prices from April
2012 to July 2012, after which the prices stabilised at
around 4 USc/kWhr. In general, market clearing prices in
DAM are slowly stabilising for off peak, standard and peak
periods, at around 4 USc/kWhr, 6 USc/kWhr and 10 USc/
kWhr respectively.
On a year on year basis, the average market clearing prices
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Fig 4.6 Total Revenues Realized on the Market to Date as of 31st
March 2013.

Note that there is a general increase of average yearly
MCP prices from year 2009-10 through to year 2011-12.
However there is no significant increase in prices for the
year 2012/2013 year from year 2011/12, a sign that the
market prices are slowly stabilising. This is critical for the
market to gain more predictability confidence.

4.3 DAM Revenues Performance
A total of USD 1,262,938 was exchanged among the
participants for the year 1st April 2012 to the 31st of
March 2013. Out of this, a total of USD1,096,013 was
exchanged among sellers and buyers, USD66,678 was
collected as Wheeling revenues, USD17,732 was collected
to cover wheelers’ Losses, USD47,607 was collected as
Administration charges on DAM trades and USD34,907
was collected as Congestion income. Below is a summary
of the yearly market performance in terms of revenues
realised.

Fig 4.5 Total Revenues Realized on the Market for the Year
2012/13.

A total of USD 2,886,133 was exchanged among the
participants to date since the DAM trading platform
went live on 15 December 2009. Out of this a total
of USD2,413,632 was exchanged among sellers and
buyers, USD165,206 was collected as Wheeling revenues,
USD48,790 was collected to cover wheelers’ losses,
USD124,307 was collected as Administration charges on
DAM trades and USD134,198 was collected as Congestion
income.

5. SAPP Trading Challenges
The SAPP market continued to face a number of challenges,
among them transmission constraints, the general power
deficit in the region and mismatch of prices between
buyers and sellers on the market. Transmission constraints
have however been the major challenge resulting in a
significant difference between power that was matched
and power that was actually traded.

On a year on year basis, the revenues generated on
the market increased from 2009/10 to 2010/11 before
retreating in the year 2011/12 and again increasing in
2012/13. Below is a summary of the annual revenues
generated on the market since the market went live on
the 15th of December 2009.

Transmission constraints, especially along the SAPP
central corridor, had significant impact on both bilateral
and DAM trading during the period under review. On the
bilateral trading market more than 75% of power that
was requested could not go through due to transmission
constraints on critical corridors whereas in DAM trading,
on average 85% of power that was matched could not
go through due to transmission constraints on critical
corridors.
Below is a summary of the impact of transmission
constraints on Bilateral and DAM trading platforms in
the last 6 months (for bilateral trading) and for the entire
period (for DAM trades) of the year under review.
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Fig 5.1 Impact of Transmission Constraints on Bilateral and OTC
trades for the months of October 2012 to March 2013 on SAPP
critical corridors
Lack of trading due to transmission constraints resulted
in an average of around USD400,000 lost revenue in
wheeling revenues per month as calculated at average
SAPP wheeling rate of USD2.42/MWhr.

Fig 5.3 Impact of Transmission Constraints on DAM Trading as of
31st March 2013.

As can be seen from above, almost 85% of the 163 GWh
that was matched in DAM or 140 GWh could not be
traded for the year 2012/13. Cumulatively, a total of 230
GWhr was matched but only 62 GWhr was actually traded
since market opening. As a result, a total of 168 GWhr or
73% of what was matched could not be traded due to
transmission constraints.

5.2 Impact of Transmission Constraints on DAM Trading for the
Year Ended 31st March 2013

6. Market Monitoring and Surveillance
The SAPP currently has an interim Market Monitoring
and Surveillance arrangement wereby the SAPP Centre
Manager assissted by the SADC Regional Electricity
Regulatory Association (RERA) Executive Secretary carries
out the monitoring and survellance functions for the
market. No market abuse nor market misbehaviour were
recorded during the period 1st April 2012 to 31st March
2013.

7. Market Guidelines Development
The MSC completed the development of the SAPP Market
Guidelines for existing markets in the SAPP, that is, Bilateral,
Over the Counter and the Day Ahead Market trading
platforms. The final document is currently being reviewed
for consistency by the SAPP. The guidelines are meant to
promote co-ordinated trading among SAPP Members,
efficient use of shared facilities and to promote high levels
of system reliability of the interconnected SAPP system.
They specify how each of the identified SAPP Markets shall
be developed, operated and managed.

8. DAM System Support
The SAPP obtained support from the Government of
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Norway and Sida for the SAPP competitive market for the
next three years from 2013 to 2015. The Government of
Norway and Sida have been supporting the establishment
and operations of the competitive electricity market for
the SADC region. SAPP DAM trading platform support and
maintenance contracts have since been secured for 2013
with possible extension for the years 2014 and 2015.

Participants and Trainers at the DAM Training in ZESCO, ZAmbia.

9.2 MSC Exchange Visit to the USA

Government of Norway and Sida Officials at SAPP Coordination
Centre, Harare, Zimbabwe soon after a meeting on the SAPP
Competitive market support held on 14 June 2012

The SAPP Markets Sub Committee (MSC) had an exchange
visit to the United States of America (USA) from the 23rd
of February 2013 to the 2nd of March 2013. The visit was
sponsored by the United States Agency for International
Development (USAID) and organised by the United States
Energy Association (USEA). The main purpose of the visit
was for the MSC to experience the USA electricity market
and in particular to;
•

9. Capacity Building

•

9.1 DAM Certification Training

•

Fourteen (14) members from SAPP utilities attended
the DAM Certification and Refresher course in Harare,
Zimbabwe from the 23rd to the 24th of July 2012. In
addition a similar certification course was also held for
ZESCO in Lusaka, Zambia in August 2012. The training
centered on DAM principles and bid submission using the
SAPP DAM upgraded system.

•

gain experience on the various USA electricity markets
structures and their implementation
understand and appreciate best practices on market
governance and operations
experience how the USA is managing transmission
access and pricing in a market environment
appreciate how the USA is handling the balancing
and ancillary services markets

During the visit, MSC managed to visit key electricity
market institutions such as USEA, Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC), PJM power market,
New York Independent System Operator (NYISO), North
America Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC), Georgia
Power Company and Alabama Power Company.

SAPP Members who attended the DAM Certification Training
Programme in Harare
SAPP MSC Members and NERC staff pose for a photo at NERC offices
during the MSC visit to the USA
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A total of 13 MSC members, (including the SAPP Chief
Market Analyst) from all SAPP member countries attended
the visit with the exception of representatives from Angola
and Zambia who could not make it.

Some Energy Traders and System Controllers at the Forum, Kitwe,
Zambia

12. Acknowledgements

SAPP MSC Members and Georgia Power Staff pose for a photo at
Georgia Power Offices during the visit
The visit was an eye opener as the MSC gained a lot of
experience on the wide scope of the USA electricity market
operations. The MSC will review the practices obtained
from the USA exchange visit programme and recommend
a way forward in the best interest of the SAPP market.

10. Implementation of Control Area Services and
Regulation Reserves Charges
The SAPP started work on the development and
implementation of standard control area and regulation
reserves charges. The components to be included in these
charges have been agreed and the SAPP is currently in the
process to populate the tables with costs for the various
components agreed by the SAPP. The implementation
of the charges will take place after approval by the SAPP
Management Committee. This will see all SAPP members
using a uniform way of charging control area services and
provision of regulating reserves by the three control areas
of SAPP.

11. Traders and Operators Forum
The 9th SAPP Energy Traders and System Controllers
forum was held in Kitwe, Zambia, from 10 to 11 October,
2012. Energy Traders and System Controllers discussed
various issues on energy interchange, trading and system
control such as participation on the Day Ahead Market,
system disturbances, and how to improve communication
between control centres. They also reviewed terms of
reference of the forum. Thereafter, they toured the Control
Centre of the Copperbelt Energy Corporation (CEC) in
Kitwe.
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I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the entire
SAPP and in particular the Markets Sub Committee (MSC)
team whose dedication to see the SAPP market succeed
has been critical during the year. The support from the
SAPP Management and Executive Committees is also very
critical especially the need to ensure that the market has
adequate and fair access to transmission path which is
necessary if the SAPP vision to have a competitive market
is to be realised.
I would also like to pay special tribute to our cooperating
partners and in particular, the Government of Norway,
Sida, the European Union, and USAID whose continued
commitment and support towards the implementation of
the SAPP competitive market is very much appreciated.
The SAPP CC team headed by the Centre Manager,
Dr Lawrence Musaba, has also been splendid in the
organisation, running and management of the SAPP
market. Together with the respective market participants
and their respective traders and system controllers, they
contributed towards the market performance to date and
their continued participation in the future will no doubt
positively contribute towards the success of the market.

Mr Lion Mashiri
Markets Sub Committee Chairperson

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

E N V I R O N M E N T S U B - C O M M I T T E E R E PORT
the Tanzanian side after which a Resettlement Action Plan
(RAP) will be undertaken.

2.3 DRC - Zambia Interconnector
Following the completion of the ESIA Studies, the project
is underway and CEC is re-tendering on the Zambian side.
Land preparation commenced in 2012 in readiness for
project implementation in Zambia while implementation
is underway in the DRC and completion is expected in
June, 2013.

2.4 Mozambique Central and South Backbone
Mr. Joseph L. Phalalo
BPC (Botswana)
Environmental Sub-Committee Chairperson.

Environmental and Social Impact studies were completed
and approved by the Government.

2.5 Central Transmission Corridor
1. Introduction
Environmental issues are an integral entity of the Southern
African Power Pool especially in view of the current
Climate Change challenges resulting from electricity
generation in the region. The year under review witnessed
some great strides in Environmental Management at SAPP
utilities across the region. Some progress was noted in
the setting up of Environmental Management Systems
(EMS) at various utilities, the production of Monthly and
Annual Sustainable Development Bulletins, PCB Phase out
initiatives, completion of Environmental and Social Impact
Assessments (ESIAs) for a number of projects within the
SAPP region and in Capacity Building.

2. Environmental Status of SAPP Transmission Projects
Environmental and Social Impacts Assessments were
completed and approved for several Transmission and
Generation projects in the region. However a few projects
are facing funding challenges and have therefore not
been implemented.

2.1 Zimbabwe-Zambia-Botswana-Namibia
Interconnector (ZIZABONA)
Environmental and Social Impact Assessment studies for
the lines are currently under way in Zimbabwe, Zambia,
and Namibia while they have been completed and
approved in Botswana.

2.2 Zambia-Tanzania-Kenya Interconnector
Norconsult is to engage a consultant to carryout ESIA for the
project after the report that was approved in 2007 expired
on the Zambian side. The ESIA studies are underway on

Marvel – Insukamini – EIA studies have been completed and
submitted to the Environmental Management Agency in
Zimbabwe for approval.
Alaska – Sherwood Line - Preparation of Prospectors has been
completed. The Environmental Impact Assessment study
will commence as soon as the process goes through
tender.

3. Environmental Status of Generation Projects
MphandaNkuwa (1,500 MW) (Mozambique)
Environmental and Social Impact Assessment studies
have been approved. Resettlement Action Plan (RAP)
has been submitted to the government. If approved the
company will immediately commence resettling affected
people. The EIA for the 21 km Transmission line has also
been submitted to the government for approval.
The project is to be registered with United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) as a
Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) project.

Kafue Gorge Lower (ZESCO) (750MW) (Zambia)
Feasibility study report has been completed. EIA has been
approved by the Zambia Environmental Management
Agency (ZEMA). Resettlement Action Plan is currently
under implementation. Twenty-four families are being relocated and construction of houses for Project Affected
Persons (PAP) is progressing well. Improvement of rural
health center and school are also progressing well

Kliphuewel Wind Facility – 3,16 MW (South Africa)
An Environmental Management Plan (EMP) based on ISO
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14001 standards, has been compiled for the construction,
operation and de-commissioning phases of the project.
This includes:
•
•
•
•

Ensuring activities of work personnel and the public
are kept within designated areas
Monitoring impact of the operating turbines on bird
species in terms of fatalities and breeding habits
Monitoring noise produced and effects on the local
community
Recording and assessing complaints from the public

Morupule “B” Expansion (600MW) (Botswana)
The EIA for the project has been done and approved. A
displaced family has been re-located. The EIA for the
transmission line is now complete and the EIA for the water
project is expected to be submitted to the Department of
Environmental Affairs for approval.

4. Climate Change
4.1 Conference of Parties (COP 18)
SAPP participated at the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) Eighteenth
Conference of Parties (COP 18) which took place in Doha,
Qatar from 26 November to 7 December, 2013. About 12,
000 delegates converged in Doha from Governments, UN
Bodies and agencies, Intergovernmental organisations,
media, and NGOs. The key outcome of the conference was
the decision to extend the second commitment period
under the Kyoto Protocol starting January, 2013 and to
run until 2020.Clean Development Mechanisms (CDM)
projects are recognized under this Phase ll of the Kyoto
Protocol – meaning developed countries can continue to
invest in CDM projects This outcome provides the SAPP
an opportunity to register planned renewable energy
projects for funding under CDM. It is also interesting to
note that that all SAPP Member states now do have DNAs
whose function is to facilitate registration of CDM projects
with the UNFCCC. Members were therefore urged to
take advantage of the presence of Designated National
Authorities in their respective countries and identify and
register potential CDM projects.
Also to note from the COP is that a web-based Nationally
Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs) Registry was
created and is to be fully operational by September,
2013. Developing countries were asked to submit NAMA
projects in the Registry. Developed countries were asked
to provide matching technical financial support

4.2 Earth Hour
Earth Hour 2013 was celebrated on 23rd March, 2013 from
28

20h30 to 21h30. This is a global initiative against climate
change where individuals and organisations voluntarily
turn their lights off for an hour in a bit to save electricity.
This year, the event realized 650MW in form electricity
saved.

5. PCB Phase-out in the SAPP
The SAPP received financial assistance from the United
Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP) for the
implementation of the PCB Phase-out project in the
SADC region. The project would ensure the phasing out
PCBs from the SADC region by 2025 as per the Stockholm
Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)
requirement. Implementation of the project is in two
phases. Phase 1 of the project focuses on capacity building
on the handling and management of PCBs while phase 2
would include the collection, transportation and disposal
of PCB contaminated material. All activities under phase 1
of the project were implemented in 2011 -2012.
Activities under the Phase 2 of the project are currently
under way. Most utilities have submitted the required
information for the completion of the Project Identification
Form (PIF) to the UNEP. The UNEP consultant has submitted
the PIF to the Global Environmental facility in Geneva for
consideration.
Meanwhile a number of utilities are taking own initiative
to phase out PCBs from their own companies. The
Swaziland Electricity Company and HCB of Mozambique
have already constructed temporary shelters for PCB
contaminated material, following the ESC visit to some UN
Standard temporary shelters in Kariba, Zambia.

UN Standard PCB Temporary Storage Facility Constructed in
Swaziland in 2012

6. Sustainable Development Bulletin for the Southern
African Power Pool
As part of Environmental awareness, the Environmental
Sub-Committee continues to publish the Sustainable
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Development monthly bulletin on various environmental
issues. The bulletin is circulated to a regional - wide
audience of stakeholders and is also available on the SAPP
website.

7. Environmental Management Systems
In order to enable utilities to reduce environmental
impacts and increase operating efficiency, the ESC
introduced Environmental Management Systems (EMS).
This is a framework that helps a company achieve its
environmental goals through consistent control of its
operations. The ESC initiated training on EMS which was
held in Gaborone, Botswana in June, 2012. Following this
training, the ESC designed a template that would enable
utilities to implement various elements of EMS at their
own utilities. It is pleasing that all utilities have now been
able to implement one of the key elements of an EMS,
which is the establishment of Environmental Policies at
utilities. The target is for all utilities to have conformed to
ISO 140001 by 2015.

10. Acknowledgement
I would like to extent my gratitude to all members of the
Environmental Sub-Committee for the hard work executed
throughout the year. May I also take this opportunity to
thank the Environmental Officer, Johnson Maviya for his
efforts in co-coordinating all issues on Environmental
Management within the SAPP and the SAPP Management
Committee (MANCO) and the SAPP Executive Committee
(EXCO) for putting environmental issues at the fore of the
SAPP operations. I would like to thank Mr. Aubrey Phale of
Eskom who is leaving the ESC to take up another senior
position within Eskom. Mr Phale has been very active
in capacity building issues especially in Environmental
Management Systems.

8. Capacity Building
Members of the Environmental Sub-Committee members
received training in Environmental Management Systems
in June, 2012. The two-day training workshop held in
Gaborone, Botswana was facilitated by Aubrey Phale of
Eskom. The main objective is to enable all members to set
up Environmental Management Systems at their utilities
Still on Capacity Building, the Environmental Officer,
Johnson Maviya facilitated a one-day training workshop
on PCB Handling and Management for Engineers and
Technicians at ESCOM in Blantyre, Malawi in January, 2013.

Members of the SAPP Environmental Sub- Committee

Mr Joseph L. Phalalo
Environmental Sub-Committee Chairperson

9. SAPP Grid Emission Factor
With financial support from the German Federal Ministry
of the Environment, UNEP and the UNEP Risoe Center
initiated a study to examine how to best take into account
exports and imports of electricity across the national
boundaries in the South African Power Pool (SAPP) and
to systematically analyze issues associated with the subregional grid electricity system in order to develop national
Grid Emission Factors (GEFs) in SAPP member countries for
application in Clean Development Mechanism projects.
The SAPP Grid Emission Factor was calculated to be GEF
of 0.9216 tCO2/MWh. The SAPP GEF is expected to be
approved by the United Nations Framework Convention
on Climate Change (UNFCCC) during the first half of 2013
and would provide an opportunity for SAPP Member
states to advance their CDM projects.
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Dr. Lawrence Musaba
Coordination Centre Manager

Mr. Alison Chikova
Chief Engineer

Mrs. Daisy Gombera
Finance & Admin Officer
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Mr. Sydney Zimba
Operations Engineer

Mrs Caroline Muringai
IT Specialist

Mr. Johnson Maviya
Environmental Officer

Mr. Elisha Mutambudzi
DAM Market Finance Officer

Miss Edeline Mujongondi
Secretary

Mr. Simon Jaricha
Messenger

Mr. Micheal Nhachi
Caretaker

Mr. Musara Beta
Chief Market Analyst
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situation where it was noted that 1,230MW of generation
projects were commisioned in 2011.
It was also noted that technical and market studies on the
ZIZABONA Transmission Project were completed and an
Investor Round Table was planned to take place in June
2012. The members updated the country generation and
transmission projects status and the projects that will be
part of the SADC Memorandum of Understanding on the
SAPP Priority Projects.
The ESCOM meeting was followed by the Energy Thematic
Group (ETG) meeting for the International Cooperating
Partners.

Dr. Lawrence Musaba
SAPP Coordination Centre Manager
In the year under review from 1 April 2012 to 31 March
2013, the SAPP Coordination Centre (SAPP-CC) carried
out a number of activities under the direction of the
Coordination Centre Board, the Management Committee
and the Executive Committee. The main activities were:

1. Human Resources
The SAPP Human Resources Working Group (HRWG) was
tasked by the CC Board to work on closing the salary
gaps at the SAPP-CC and to develop an implementation
plan on how it was going to be done. Four options
were presented to close the gaps and to move the staff
to the 25th percentile. Of the four options, the HRWG
recommended option-1 as the best option to implement.
Option-1 considers closing the gaps for the critical staff
first such as the IT Manager and the Engineering Staff and
then close the gap of the support staff at a later stage. This
option was adopted by the CC Board.
The HRWG completed the following procedures during
the year:

2.2 Needs Assessment Workshop
The SAPP Needs Assessment Workshop was convened
on 26 April, 2012 in Johannesburg. The workshop was
convened to deliberate on the draft report by a consultant
on the SAPP Energy Efficiency needs assessment following
a study done in the region. The needs were evaluated
and recommendations were done based on suitability,
acceptability and feasibility. The projects were grouped
into four categories:
•
•
•

High priority
Medium priority
Low priority and Fail

High priority projects were identified as distribution
losses, Measurement and Verification (M&V) while
medium priority projects were identified as generation
dispatch, energy trading, hydropower rehabilitation, coal
rehabilitation, Energy Efficiency Obligations and awareness
campaigns. Projects that fell into the low priority category
are Solar Water Heaters, Energy audits and smart metering.
The report is still to be finalised following the workshop. of
the SAPP operations.

Business conduct procedures covering
•
•
•
•
•
•

Conflict of interest
Business courtesies
Procurement matters
Directorships
Cell Phones, and
Personal loans

2. Meetings and Workshops
2.1 SADC ESCOM & ETG Meeting
The SADC Electricity Sub-Comittee (ESCOM) meeting was
held in Gaborone on 23 April 2012. The meeting addressed
the status of the electricity power supply and demand

Delegates who attended the SAPP Energy Efficiency Needs
assessment in Johannesburg on 26 April, 2012

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

31

SAP P CO- OR DINAT ION C ENT R E R E P O RT
I would like to thank Mr. Aubrey Phale of Eskom who is
leaving the ESC to take up another senior position within
Eskom. Mr Phale has been very active in capacity building
issues especially in Environmental Management Systems.

2.3 Finance Working Group Meeting
The Finance Working Group held its first meeting on
the 18th of May 2012 at the SAPP Coordination Centre
Offices in Harare. Utilities that were represented were as
follows; ESCOM, Eskom, ZESCO and ZESA. The members
deliberated on the Terms of Reference for the working
group. Another meeting was held end of June 2012 to
check the audited accounts of the Coordination Centre.

2.6 39th SAPP Meetings in Tanzania
The 39th SAPP meetings were held at the Arusha
International Conference Centre in Arusha, Tanzania
on 3-6 September 2012. The meetings discussed the
SAPP demand and supply situation, status on project
implementation, SAPP market performance, transmission
access and pricing, system operational and environmental
issues.

Delegates who attended the SAPP Meetings in Arusha pose for a
photo in Arusha, Tanzania

2.7 RERA 10TH Anniversary Conference
Members of the FWG at SAPP Offices

2.4 African Utility Week
The 12th annual African Utility Week conference and
exhibition was held in Johannesburg, South Africa, at
the Expo Centre from 21-24 May 2012. The African Utility
Week brings together the entire ecosystem for the African
power sector - from ministers and high level government
representatives, utilities, municipalities, power pools and
regulators to consultants, vendors, service providers
and energy intensive power users - under one roof for
the purpose of sharing and determining the future
development of Africa’s power industry. At this year’s
event, the SAPP was represented by Dr Musaba.

2.5 UNECA Working Group on PPPs in Africa
A workshop for the UNECA working group on the publicprivate partnerships (PPPs) for Africa was held in Pretoria,
South Africa, from 31 May to 1 June 2012. The workshop
discussed institutional updates, Building PPPs to Scale-Up
Climate Friendly Investment in Africa and the next steps.
The SAPP was represented by Dr Musaba.
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The Regional Electricity Regulatory Association (RERA)
attained ten years this year since its formation in 2002.
To celebrate this achievement, RERA held their 10th
Anniversary celebrations during the week 5-9 November
2012 in Windhoek, Namibia, under the theme “Fostering
Electricity Regulation in Southern Africa”.
A number of presentations were made during the
anniversary celebrations. The SAPP made presentations,
highlighting the achievements RERA achieved in assisting
SAPP members in meeting demand and supply balance,
achieving cost reflective tariffs and the development of
cross border trading guidelines.
Ten individuals were recognized through awards for their
sterling contributions to RERA achievements during the
ten year period RERA has been in existence. Dr Lawrence
Musaba, the SAPP Coordination Centre Manager is among
the ten members who received the awards. The SAPP
congratulates Dr Musaba for that.
A number of challenges were also noted, including the
need to transform RERA from an electricity regulatory
association to an energy regulatory authority, the delays in
achieving cost reflectivity and carrying out cost of service
studies.
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3. Technical Cooperation

3.3 AFUR Training

3.1 Exchange Visit on Energy Efficiency and Demand Side
Management to USA

A training programme organised by the African Forum for
Utility Regulators (AFUR) and hosted by the SAPP was held
on 20-23 August 2012 in Harare, Zimbabwe. The course
covered the following main areas:

USAID sponsored a team from the SAPP Demand
Side Management Working Group to participate in an
exchange visit to the USA from 27 July to 5 August 2012.
The companies visited include the following:
•
•
•
•
•

National Grid in Boston
Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources
NSTAR Electric and Gas
Pacific Gas and Electric Company University of
California Davis Energy Efficiency Centre
Site visit to a PV facility

A number of energy efficiency programs being
implemented were presented that include the CFL
program, commercial and industrial programs, energy start
appliance programs and customer incentive programs.
A number of key lessons were learnt which include the
need for customer behavioural change that needs to be
encouraged, measurement and verification of energy
saving is done by a third party. The factors that contribute
to success include good legislative frameworks, regulatory
structures and regulatory alignment. Incentives are given
to utilities when they meet targets.

(i) Types of power pools
(ii) Characteristics of power pools
(iii) Power Market Fundamentals
(iv) Market Power and Gaming
(v) Operation of power pools
(vi) Gaming Mechanisms
(vii) Regulation and Governance of Power Pools and
Independent System Operators (ISO)
The course was attended by participants from Namibia,
Uganda and Zimbabwe.

3.4 COMESA Committee on Statistics
The Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa
(COMESA) has a working committee on statistical matters.
In the spirit of cooperation between COMESA and the
Sothern African Development Community (SADC),
COMESA invited SAPP to participate at the fourth meeting
of this committee on statistical matters. The meeting
was held in Lusaka, Zambia, from 22 to 24 August 2012.
It reviewed progress made in compilation and sharing
of statistics on various matters like trade, investment and
infrastructure. COMESA identified SAPP as a key regional
body and intitiated collaboration for data exchange.
COMESA urged SAPP members to be accessing its data
portal at the following interactive internet resource: www.
comstat.comesa.int

3.5 Conference of AU Ministers of Energy in Africa
Delegates who attended the SAPP Meetings in Arusha pose for a
photo in Arusha, Tanzania

3.2 AFSEC Technical Committee Meeting
The SAPP Chief Engineer attended the AFSEC Technical
Committee (TC) Meetings that took place in Johannesburg,
South Africa form 29 to 30 August 2012. AFSEC is
responsible for electro technical standards in support of
infrastructure development and trade in Africa. The TCs
discussed the strategic business plans of the work to be
done. The TCs review and mirror the work of the relevant
IEC TCs, primarily with a view to recommending the
adoption or adaptation of IEC standards for application at
the level of the African continent.

The Environmental Officer represented the SAPP at the
Africa Union Conference of Energy Ministers (CEMA) held
in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia from 12 to 16 November, 2012.
The SAPP made presentations on “Implementing the PIDA
Priority Action Plan on Energy: Impacts and Challenges”
and on “Energy Sector Reforms” It was noted that nearly all
African countries would benefit from the implementation
of the PIDA projects. The urgency to implement the
projects in the PIDA Priority Action Plan and the impact
of the programme on economic growth and GDP,
employment and GHG emission were emphasised.
Institutional, Commercial and Financial challenges to the
implementation of PIDA were identified and a call was
made for specific action by stakeholders. Countries were
called upon to adopt measures at national and regional
levels to accelerate the implementation of the Energy
Priority Action Plan Projects. Countries were also called
upon to address regulatory and institutional barriers to
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the adoption of innovative project structures, flexible
procurement processes more adapted to multinational
projects, granting more delegation of authority to special
project development and operation entities to operate
with sufficient autonomy, favouring cost recovery
arrangements. Further, the countries were requested
to address commercial and financial bottlenecks such
as delayed negotiations of long term project contracts
on commercial terms; high perceived political risks
affecting long term agreements; persisting discrepancies
between production costs and distribution tariff among
participating countries in the regional projects. On the
Power Sector Reforms, African governments were called
upon to undertake long-term power sector reforms
in order to improve overall performance of the sector
improve credit-worthiness of utilities, attract more private
sector investments and experiences, reduced cost of
energy to consumers.

4. Support from Cooperating Partners
4.1 SAPP- Sida- Govt of Norway AGM
The Government of Norway and Sida held their 2012
annual general meeting (AGM) with the SAPP on the
14th of June 2012. The meeting was held at the SAPP
Cordination Centre offices in Harare, Zimbabwe. The
Government of Norway and Sida are the main funders
for the development and implementation of the SAPP
competive electricity market in the form of the Day Ahead
Market (DAM). The meetings focused on the overview
of SAPP demand and supply balance situation, the
performance of the SAPP market, the challenges being
faced by the SAPP and the mitigatory measures being
taken. Since this was the last meeting before the expiry
at the end of 2012 of the three year grant support offered
by the Government of Norway and Sida, the meeting also
reviewed the progress made on the planned activities
under the support, the challenges faced and the future
needs for SAPP. It was agreed that the SAPP will update the
progress report submitted to the Government of Norway
and Sida and will also develop a new project document to
contain the anticipated future grant support for another
three years from 2013 to 2016.
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Representatives from the Government of Norway and Sida pose for
a photo at the New SAPP offices, in Harare during the meetings held
on 14 June 2012

5. Acknowledgement

I would like to take this opportunity and thank members
of staff of the SAPP Coordination Centre for their hard
work during the year that has gone by.

Dr. Lawrence Musaba
SAPP Coordination Centre Manager
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Table1: SAPP EXISTING GENERATION STATIONS – 2012/13

Table 2: YEAR 2012/13 INSTALLED CAPACITY VS SUPPRESSED DEMAND
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Table 3: Demand and Supply Growth

Graph 1: Number of Customers per Employee - 2012/13
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Graph 2: Utility Debtor Days - 2012/13

Graph 3: Average Electricity Tariff 2012/13

Average Electricity Tariff, USc/ KWh
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SAP P STAT IS T IC S A ND FOR EC A S T S
Table 1: SAPP UTILITY GENERAL INFORMATION 2012/13 STATISTICS

Table 2: Annual Maximum Demand Forecast: 2012 to 2025, MW

Table 3: Energy Forecast: 2012 TO 2025, GWh
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APPENDIX 1 OF SUB-COMMITTEE REPORT: Summary of some reported system disturbances.
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APPENDIX 1 OF SUB-COMMITTEE REPORT: Summary of some reported system disturbances.
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APPENDIX 1 OF SUB-COMMITTEE REPORT: Summary of some reported system disturbances.
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F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E NTS
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
The Directors of Southern African Power Pool “the
Organisation” are responsible for the maintenance of
adequate accounting records, and the preparation and
integrity of the financial statements and related notes
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The auditors are responsible for reporting
on the fair presentation of the financial statements.
The Directors are also responsible for the Organisation’s
systems of internal control. These are designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability
of the financial statements, and to adequately safeguard,
verify and maintain accountability for the Organisation’s
assets, and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss.
The systems are implemented and monitored by suitably
trained personnel with an appropriate segregation of
authority and duties. Nothing has come to the attention
of the Directors to indicate that any material breakdown in
the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems
has occurred during the year under review.

Organisation has adequate resources in place to continue
in operation for the foreseeable future.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013
set out on pages 45 to 70 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 30 June 2013 and signed on its behalf by:-

DIRECTORS

.................................................................

...................................................................
30 June 2013

The financial statements have been prepared on the
going concern basis since the Directors believe that the
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
TO THE MEMBERS OF
SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements
of Southern African Power Pool, which comprise the
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2013,
Statement of Income and Expenditure, Statement
of Changes in Shareholders’ Funds and Statement of
Cash Flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes, as set out on pages 45 to 70.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend

on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements, in all material
respects, give a true and fair view of the financial position
of Southern African Power Pool as at 31 March 2013 and
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE
Chartered Accountants
Harare, Zimbabwe
30 June 2013

A full list of partners and directors is available on request
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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Deloitte & Touche
Kenilworth Gardens
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Highlands
Harare
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F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E NTS
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Restated
Note

Revenue
Grant utilised
Equal share for members
Imported energy share
Exported energy
Peak demand
Thermal rating
Host member
Day-Ahead-Market (DAM) administration fees
Participation fees
Recurring capital expenditure
Donation of computer equipment

Other income
Interest received - bank
Sundry income
Profit on sale of fuel
Total income

Expenditure
Total expenditure
Deficit for the year

Total comprehensive income

7

2013
US$

2012
US$

712 681
530 105
88 351
88 351
44 175
88 351
44 175
47 607
98 168
10 200
1 752 164

1 818 747
408 191
68 032
68 032
34 016
68 032
34 016
19 931
75 591
5 200
214 614
2 814 402

906
24 703
38
25 647
1 777 811

2 653
20 282
321
23 256
2 837 658

(1 938 907)
(161 096)

(3 064 303)
(226 645)

(161 096)

(226 645)
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FI N AN CIA L S TAT EMENT S
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2013

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Other receivables
Members Day-Ahead-Market (DAM) accounts
Cash and cash equivalents:
- Co-ordination centre funds
- Special funds
– Norwegian Government Grant (NORAD)
– Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP)
– ZIZABONA Project Grant
– SAPP United Nations Environment Programme Grant
Total current assets
Total assets

Notes

2013
US$

Restated
2012
US$

8

640 008
640 008

738 432
738 432

2 415
260 820
2 947 286

4 419
188 459
1 891 022

506 985

233 434

486 982
25 403
4 229 891
4 869 899

50 386
1 312 589
9 447
5 511
3 695 267
4 433 699

306 000
337 842
407 920
1 051 762

100 000
337 842
569 016
1 006 858

11.1
11.2
11.3
11.4

621 982
25 403
647 385

50 386
1 295 337
9 447
5 511
1 360 681

12
10

223 466
2 947 286
3 170 752
4 869 899

175 138
1 891 022
2 066 160
4 433 699

9
10

11.1
11.2
11.3
11.4

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ funds
General reserve
Members contribution for capital expenditure
Accumulated funds
Total shareholders’ funds
Special funds
- Norwegian Government Grant (NORAD)
- Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP)
- ZIZABONA Project Grant
- SAPP United Nations Environment Programme Grant
Total special funds
Current liabilities
Other payables
Members Day-Ahead-Market (DAM) deposits
Total current liabilities
Total funds and liabilities

DIRECTORS
.................................................................
...................................................................
30 June 2013
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F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E NTS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
for the year ended 31 March 2013

General
reserve
US$

Members
contribution
for capital
expenditure
US$

Accumulated
fund
US$

Total
US$

100 000

337 842

891 856

1 329 698

-

-

(96 195)

(96 195)

100 000

337 842

795 661

1 233 503

-

-

(226 645)

(226 645)

Balance at 31 March 2012 (restated)

100 000

337 842

569 016

1 006 858

Members additional capital contribution

206 000

-

-

206 000

-

-

(161 096)

(161 096)

306 000

337 842

407 920

1 051 762

Balance at 31 March 2011 (as previously reported)
Prior period adjustment (note 13)
Balance at 31 March 2011 (restated)
Deficit for the year (restated)

Deficit for the year
Balance at 31 March 2013
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FI N AN CIA L S TAT EMENT S
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
2013
US$

Restated
2012
US$

(161 096)

(226 645)

281 972
(906)
744
120 714

360 928
(2 653)
131 630

Decrease in inventories
Increase in other receivables
Increase in Members Day-Ahead-Market accounts
Increase in Day-Ahead-Market deposits
Increase/ (Decrease) in other payables
Net cash generated by operating activities

2 004
(72 361)
(1 056 264)
1 056 264
48 328
98 685

641
(103 231)
(300 703)
300 703
(27 541)
1 499

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Interest received
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

(185 693)
906
1 401
(183 386)

(372 748)
2 653
674
(369 421)

Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease in special funds
Members capital contribution received
Net cash used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(713 296)
206 000
(507 296)
(591 997)

(334 542)
(334 542)
(702 464)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

1 611 367

2 313 831

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

1 019 370

1 611 367

506 985
512 385
1 019 370

233 434
1 377 933
1 611 367

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus/ (Deficit) for the period
Adjustment for
- Depreciation of property and equipment
- Interest received
- Loss on sale of property & equipment
Operating cash flow before working capital changes

Comprising:
Co-ordination Centre funds
Special funds
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F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E NTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
1. COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION
Southern African Power Pool is a non-profit making
organisation incorporated in Zimbabwe.

2. NATURE OF BUSINESS
The main object of the Organisation is to co-ordinate
the planning and development of the electricity interconnections between members’ respective networks
and to expand the Interconnected Power System and
electricity trading in the region.

3. PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The financial statements are presented in United States
Dollars (US$), being the Organisation’s functional
currency.

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs)

may remain with the entity that transferred the assets.
The amendments also require additional disclosures if
a disproportionate amount of transfer transactions are
undertaken around the end of a reporting period.
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards (amended 2010)
The amendments replace references to a fixed date of
‘1 January 2004’with ‘the date of transition to IFRSs’, thus
eliminating the need for companies adopting IFRSs
for the first time to restate derecognition transactions
that occurred before the date of transition to IFRSs.
They provide guidance on how an entity should
resume presenting financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs after a period when the entity was unable
to comply with IFRSs because its functional currency
was subject to severe hyperinflation.
The Organisation early adopted the amendments to
IFRS 1, and produced its first IFRS financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012.

4.3 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet eﬀective
4.1 New IFRSs mandatorily eﬀective at the end of the
reporting period with no material eﬀect on the
reported amounts and disclosures in the current period
or prior period
There were no new IFRSs that became mandatorily
effective at the end of the reporting period that were
applied by the entity.

4.2 Amendments to IFRSs mandatorily eﬀective at the end
of the reporting period with no material eﬀect on the
reported amounts and disclosures in the current period
or prior period
The following amendments to IFRSs were mandatorily
effective and adopted by the Organisation as at
the end of the reporting period, but did not have a
material effect on the current or previously reported
financial performance or financial position.
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
(amended 2010)
The amendments introduce additional disclosures,
designed to allow users of financial statements to
improve their understanding of transfer transactions of
financial assets (for example, securitisations), including
understanding the possible effects of any risks that

As at the end of the reporting period, the following
IFRS were in issue, optionally effective, but not early
adopted by the Organisation;
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (issued May
2011, effective January 2013)
This is an amended version of IAS 27 which now only
deals with the requirements for separate financial
statements, which have been carried over largely
unamended from IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements. Requirements for consolidated
financial statements are now contained in IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements.
The standard requires that when an entity prepares
separate financial statements, investments in
subsidiaries, associates, and jointly controlled entities
are accounted for either at cost, or in accordance with
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
The standard also deals with the recognition of
dividends, certain group reorganisations and includes
a number of disclosure requirements.
The future application of this IFRS will not have
a material impact on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as it does not currently prepare
consolidated and separate financial statements.
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FI N AN CIA L S TAT EMENT S
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
4.3 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet eﬀective (continued)
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
(issued May 2011, effective January 2013)
This standard supersedes IAS 28 Investments
in Associates and prescribes the accounting
for investments in associates and sets out the
requirements for the application of the equity method
when accounting for investments in associates and
joint ventures.
The standard defines significant influence and
provides guidance on how the equity method of
accounting is to be applied (including exemptions
from applying the equity method in some cases). It
also prescribes how investments in associates and
joint ventures should be tested for impairment.
The future application of this IFRS will not have
a material impact on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as it does not currently have any associates
or joint ventures.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued November 2009,
effective January 2013)
IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and
measuring financial assets, as follows:
•

•

•

debt instruments meeting both a ‘business
model’ test and a ‘cash flow characteristics’ test
are measured at amortised cost (the use of fair
value is optional in some limited circumstances);
investments in equity instruments can be
designated as ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ with only dividends
being recognised in profit or loss;
all other instruments (including all derivatives)
are measured at fair value with changes
recognised in the profit or loss; and the
concept of ‘embedded derivatives’ does not
apply to financial assets within the scope of
the standard and the entire instrument must
be classified and measured in accordance with
the above guidelines. The future application
of this IFRS will not have a material impact
on the Organisation’s financial statements,
as the Organisation currently measures its
borrowings at amortised cost, does not have
any investments in equity instruments and
does not have any financial instruments with
embedded derivatives.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued October 2010,
effective January 2015)
This is a revised version of IFRS 9 incorporating revised
requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities, and carrying over the existing
derecognition requirements from IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
The revised financial liability provisions maintain the
existing amortised cost measurement basis for most
liabilities. New requirements apply where an entity
chooses to measure a liability at fair value through
profit or loss – in these cases, the portion of the
change in fair value related to changes in the entity’s
own credit risk is presented in other comprehensive
income rather than within profit or loss.
The future application of this IFRS will not have
a material impact on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as the Organisation currently measures
its borrowings at amortised cost and has no future
intention to measure them at fair value.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (issued 12
May 2011, effective 1 January 2013)
Requires a parent to present consolidated financial
statements as those of a single economic entity,
replacing the requirements previously contained
in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements and Standing Interpretations Committee
(SIC) 12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities.
The standard identifies the principles of control,
determines how to identify whether an investor
controls an investee and therefore must consolidate
the investee, and sets out the principles for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements.
The standard introduces a single consolidation
model for all entities based on control, irrespective
of the nature of the investee (i.e. whether an entity
is controlled through voting rights of investors
or through other contractual arrangements as is
common in ‘special purpose entities’). Under IFRS 10,
control is based on whether an investor has:
•
•
•
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Power over the investee;
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and
the ability to use its power over the investee to

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E NTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
4.3 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet eﬀective (continued)
affect the amount of the returns.
The future application of this IFRS will not have
a material impact on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as the Organisation currently does not
have any entities over which it exercises control, as
based on the revised IFRS 10 basis.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (issued May 2011, effective
January 2013)
Replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. Requires a
party to a joint arrangement to determine the type of
joint arrangement in which it is involved by assessing
its rights and obligations and then account for those
rights and obligations in accordance with that type of
joint arrangement. Joint arrangements are either joint
operations or joint ventures:
•

•

a joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement (joint operators) have rights
to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. Joint operators
recognise their assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses in relation to its interest in a joint
operation (including their share of any such
items arising jointly)
a joint venture is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement (joint venturers) have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
A joint venturer applies the equity method of
accounting for its investment in a joint venture
in accordance with IAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures (2011). Unlike
IAS 31, the use of ‘proportionate consolidation’
to account for joint ventures is not permitted.

The future application of this IFRS will not have
a material impact on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as the Organisation currently does not
have joint operations or joint ventures as defined in
IFRS 11.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (issued
May 2011, effective January 2013)
Requires the extensive disclosure of information that
enables users of financial statements to evaluate
the nature of, and risks associated with, interests in

other entities and the effects of those interests on
its financial position, financial performance and cash
flows.
In high-level terms, the required disclosures are
grouped into the following broad categories:
•

•

•

•

Significant judgements and assumptions such as how control, joint control, significant
influence has been determined;
Interests in subsidiaries - including details of
the structure of the group, risks associated
with structured entities, changes in control,
and so on;
Interests in joint arrangements and associates
- the nature, extent and financial effects of
interests in joint arrangements and associates
(including names, details and summarised
financial information); and
Interests in unconsolidated structured entities
- information to allow an understanding of the
nature and extent of interests in unconsolidated
structured entities and to evaluate the nature
of, and changes in, the risks associated with its
interests in unconsolidated structured entities

IFRS 12 lists specific examples and additional
disclosures which further expand upon each of these
disclosure objectives, and includes other guidance on
the extensive disclosures required.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (issued 12 May 2011,
effective January 2013)
Replaces the guidance on fair value measurement
in existing IFRS accounting literature with a single
standard.
The IFRS defines fair value, provides guidance on
how to determine fair value and requires disclosures
about fair value measurements. It does not change
the requirements regarding which items should
be measured or disclosed at fair value. IFRS 13
applies when another IFRS requires or permits fair
value measurements or disclosures about fair value
measurements (and measurements, such as fair value
less costs to sell, based on fair value or disclosures
about those measurements). With some exceptions,
the standard requires entities to classify these
measurements into a ‘fair value hierarchy’ based on
the nature of the inputs:
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FI N AN CIA L S TAT EMENT S
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
4.3 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet eﬀective (continued)
•

•

•

Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted market prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and
Level 3 - unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Entities are required to make various disclosures
depending upon the nature of the fair value
measurement (e.g. whether it is recognised in the
financial statements or merely disclosed) and the level
in which it is classified.
The future application of this IFRS will not have
a material impact on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as the Organisation’s financial instruments
are currently all measured at amortised cost, and
there is no intention to change their classification or
measurement basis.
IAS 19 Employee Benefits (amended June 2011,
effective January 2013)
Amends IAS 19 Employee Benefits with revised
requirements for pensions and other post-retirement
benefits, termination benefits and other changes.
The key amendments include:
•
Requiring the recognition of changes in the
net defined benefit liability (asset) including
immediate recognition of defined benefit cost,
disaggregation of defined benefit cost into
components, recognition of remeasurements
in other comprehensive income, plan
amendments, curtailments and settlements
(eliminating the ‘corridor approach’ permitted
by the existing IAS 19)
•
Introducing enhanced disclosures about
defined benefit plans
•
Modifying accounting for termination benefits,
including distinguishing benefits provided in
exchange for service and benefits provided in
exchange for the termination of employment
and affect the recognition and measurement
of termination benefits
•
Clarifying various miscellaneous issues,
including the classification of employee
benefits, current estimates of mortality rates,
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•

tax and administration costs and risk-sharing
and conditional indexation features
Incorporating other matters submitted to the
IFRS Interpretations Committee.

The future application of this IFRS is not expected to
have a material effect on the Organisation’s financial
statements, with respect to accounting for defined
benefit plans, as it does not operate or participate
in defined benefit pension schemes; but will have
an impact on accounting of termination benefits for
employee retrenchments and resignations that occur
in the future.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (amended
June 2011, effective on annual reporting periods
beginning on or after July 2012)
Amends IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
to revise the way other comprehensive income is
presented. The amendments:
•
Preserve the amendments made to IAS 1
in 2007 to require profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, (“OCI”) to be presented
together, i.e. either as a single ‘statement of
profit or loss and comprehensive income’, or
a separate ‘statement of profit or loss’ and a
‘statement of comprehensive income’ – rather
than requiring a single continuous statement
as was proposed in the exposure draft
•
Require entities to group items presented in
OCI based on whether they are potentially
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently. i.e.
those that might be reclassified and those that
will not be reclassified
•

Require tax associated with items presented
before tax to be shown separately for each
of the two groups of OCI items (without
changing the option to present items of OCI
either before tax or net of tax).

The future application of this IFRS will have an impact
on the Organisation’s financial statements, in the
event that any transaction or events that result in
items of OCI items arise, and are therefore required to
be presented as described above.
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (amended
December 2011, effective January 2013)
Amends the disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 Financial

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E NTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
4.3 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet eﬀective (continued)
Instruments: Disclosures to require information about
all recognised financial instruments that are set off
in accordance with paragraph 42 of IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation. The amendments also
require disclosure of information about recognised
financial instruments subject to enforceable master
netting arrangements and similar agreements even if
they are not set off under IAS 32.
The future application of this IFRS is not expected to
have a material effect on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as it does not offset any of its financial
instruments.
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amended
December 2011, effective January 2014)
Amends IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
to clarify certain aspects because of diversity in
application of the requirements on offsetting, focused
on four main areas:
•
•
•
•

the meaning of ‘currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off ’
the application of simultaneous realisation and
settlement
the offsetting of collateral amounts
the unit of account for applying the offsetting
requirements.

The future application of this IFRS is not expected to
have a material effect on the Organisation’s financial
statements, as it does not offset any of its financial
instruments.
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards (amended March 2012, effective
January 2013)
Amends IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards to address how a
first-time adopter would account for a government
loan with a below-market rate of interest when
transitioning to IFRSs. The amendments mirror the
requirements for existing IFRS preparers in relation
to the application of amendments made to IAS 20
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance in relation to accounting for
government loans.
The future application of this IFRS is not expected
to have any effect on the Organisation’s financial

statements, as is not a first-time adopter of IFRSs, and
neither does it have any government loans.
Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle (issued May
2012, effective January 2013)
Makes amendments to the following standards:
•
IFRS 1 — Permits the repeated
application of IFRS 1, borrowing costs on
certain qualifying assets
•
IAS 1 — Clarification of the requirements
for comparative information
•
IAS 16 — Classification of servicing
equipment
•
IAS 32 — Clarification that the tax
effect of a distribution to holders of equity
instruments should be accounted for in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes
•
IAS 34 — Clarification of interim
reporting of segment information for total
assets in order to enhance consistency with the
requirements in IFRS 8 Operating Segments
Consolidated
Financial
Statements,
Joint
Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities: Transition Guidance (Issued June 2012,
effective January 2013)
Amends IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities, to provide additional
transition relief by limiting the requirement to
provide adjusted comparative information to only the
preceding comparative period. Also, amendments
to IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 eliminate the requirement to
provide comparative information for periods prior to
the immediately preceding period.
Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12
and IAS 27) (Issued October 2012, effective January
2014)
Amends IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS
27 Separate Financial Statements to:
•
provide ‘investment entities’ (as defined)
an exemption from the consolidation of
particular subsidiaries and instead require that
an investment entity measure the investment
in each eligible subsidiary at fair value through
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

53

FI N AN CIA L S TAT EMENT S
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
4.3 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet eﬀective (continued)
•

•

require additional disclosure about why
the entity is considered an investment
entity, details of the entity’s unconsolidated
subsidiaries, and the nature of relationship and
certain transactions between the investment
entity and its subsidiaries
require an investment entity to account for
its investment in a relevant subsidiary in the
same way in its consolidated and separate
financial statements (or to only provide
separate financial statements if all subsidiaries
are unconsolidated).

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine (Issued October 2011, effective January
2013)
Clarifies the requirements for accounting for stripping
costs associated with waste removal in surface mining,
including when production stripping costs should
be recognised as an asset, how the asset is initially
recognised, and subsequent measurement.
The Interpretation requires that stripping activity costs
which provide improved access to ore be recognised
as a non-current ‘stripping activity asset’ when
certain criteria are met. The stripping activity asset is
depreciated or amortised on a systematic basis, over
the expected useful life of the identified component
of the ore body that becomes more accessible as
a result of the stripping activity, using the units of
production method unless another method is more
appropriate

5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies of the Organisation,
which are set out below, are consistent in all material
respects with those applied in the previous year.

5.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for assets.

5.2 Reporting framework and statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in
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conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which includes
standards and interpretations approved by the
IASB as well as International Accounting Standards
(IAS’s) and Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC)
interpretations issued under previous constitutions
(IFRS’s). The financial statements are based on statutory
records that are maintained under the historical cost
convention.

5.3 Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Freehold land is not depreciated.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method
so as to write off the cost of assets to their residual
value over their estimated useful lives at the following
rates:
Buildings
Computer equipment
DAM computer equipment
Office equipment
Office furniture and fittings

2.5%
33.33%
20%
20%
10%

Land is not depreciated. An item of property and
equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the statement of income and expenditure
in the year the asset is derecognised. The Directors
make an assessment of the useful lives and residual
values of the assets on an annual basis.

5.4 Impairment of assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Organisation
reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered impairment. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment (if any).
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the
statement of income and expenditure.

5.5 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on
hand, demand deposits and short term, highly
liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less, net of bank overdrafts, that are readily
convertible into known amount of cash and subject to
insignificant risk of change of value.

5.6 Special Funds
Funds granted for specific purposes are accounted
for separately as Special Funds in the statement of
financial position. They are maintained in a separate
bank account. Any interest earned on the unused
funds is credited to, and bank charges are debited to,
the Special Fund. The amount expended is recognised
as income on a systematic and rational basis over
the period necessary to match them with the related
costs. Grants related to assets are capitalised with
the amount utilised for the period amortised to the
income and expenditure account.

5.7 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Organisation has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amounts of the obligation.

5.8 Employment benefits

Organisation in exchange for services rendered by
employees. In summary such benefits are:

Short-term benefits
Benefits earned by employees under normal
employment terms including salaries, wages, bonuses
and leave pay. These are expensed as earned and
accordingly provisions are made for unpaid bonuses
and leave pay.

Post-employment benefits
Retirement benefits are provided for the Organisation’s
employees through the National Social Security
Authority (NSSA) scheme.
Employer’s contributions to the NSSA scheme are
charged to the statement of income and expenditure.

5.9 Revenue recognition
Funds income received is based on a set budget
agreed upon by all members of the Organisation.
Contributions made by members are based on set
percentages and proportions based on electricity
usage. The income is brought to account per issued
invoice to each of the member countries.
Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Organisation
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
Grant income for specific projects is recognised when
the respective expenditure has been incurred.

5.10 Trade and other receivables
Receivables are measured at amortised cost.
Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable
amounts are recognised in the statement of income
and expenditure when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired.

5.11 Trade and other payables
Payables are measured at amortised cost.

5.12 Foreign currency transactions

Employee benefits are the consideration given by the

Transactions in currencies other than the functional
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
currency are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the reporting date. Exchange
differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
included in the statement of income and expenditure.

5.13 Day Ahead Market (DAM) bank accounts
The DAM operates a substantial number of accounts
which are maintained at Stanbic Bank Botswana
Limited. The purpose of these accounts is primarily for
clearing purposes, accounting for market transactions,
security custodial services, administration fees,
wheeling fees and transmission losses.

7.

6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE ENTITY’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
In the process of applying the Organisation’s
accounting policies, management made the
following judgments that have a significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Useful lives and residual values of property and
equipment
The Organisation assesses useful lives and residual
values of property and equipment each year taking
into account past experience and technology
changes. The Directors have assessed the useful lives
in the current year and determined that changes to
the current useful lives are not necessary. The residual
values have been based on the market values of the
assets.

2012
US$

32 013
19 500
13 936
13 665
5 081
3 685
2 186
1 742
616
893
1 482
10 035
1 383
589 366
5 589
701 172

27 895
13 500
7 686
13 816
5 787
2 349
260
1 821
1 230
157
176
23
15 080
2 473
1 753 018
3 854
1 849 125

EXPENDITURE
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
Software purchases & maintenance
Audit fees
Conferences workshops & seminars
Insurance
Postages & couriers
Printing, photocopying & stationery
Repairs and maintenance - Office equipment
Computer consumables & networks
Newspapers, books & periodicals
Member subscriptions
Repairs and maintenance - Furniture & fittings
Repairs and maintenance - Computer equipment
Repairs and maintenance - Motor vehicles
SAPP annual report
SAPP generator expenses
Grant utilized
SAPP house expenses
Balance carried forward
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7.

2013
US$

2012
US$

Balance brought forward

701 172

1 849 125

Consultancy fees
Customs and Storage
Motor vehicle fuel and oils
Loss on sale of property

370
267
749
744

68
-

8 116
193

611

COMMUNICATION COSTS
DAM hardware maintenance
VSAT Telecommunications
Telephone & fax charges
Internet & e-mail charges
Cell phone charges

56 883
7 781
19 671
2 470

13 039
61 052
8 926
16 077
2 006

TRAVEL & SUBSISTENCE
Travel – International
Per Diem allowance
Accommodation & meals
Travel – Local
Visa applications
Commission, VAT & administration charges
Mileage claim and parking fees

51 949
20 015
28 542
5 076
370
513
85

44 185
20 261
45 441
6 795
522
547
104

8 278
220 815
225
1 225
2 570
48 859

9 903
347 985
1 889
1 151
-

3 921
1 628
24 925
16 049

34 646
19 939
4 955
2 880
19 220

426 675
65
1 633
22 089
12 849
23 181
5 899
1 725 854

392 503
860
12 607
24 743
11 606
22 459
4 723
2 980 828

EXPENDITURE (continued)

MARKETING & PUBLICITY
Advertising & promotions
Entertainment

DEPRECIATION
Buildings
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture & fittings
Motor vehicles and cycles
DAM Computer Equipment
OCCUPANCY COSTS
Property rent
Rates, electricity & water charges
Cleaning expenses
Repairs & maintenance – occupancy
Security
STAFF COSTS
Basic salaries
Staff training
Staff welfare
Cash in lieu of leave
Annual bonus
Medical aid
Worker compensation insurance
Balance carried forward
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2012
US$

1 725 854

2 980 828

4 138
792
2 692
2 600
778
559
166 343
2 115
12 501

3 675
1 027
2 334
2 300
2 577
395
241
60
59
41 332
-

6 987
13 548
1 938 907

9 101
20 286
88
3 064 303

EXPENDITURE (continued)
Balance carried forward
Subscriptions allowance
NSSA
Teas & lunches
Work permits
Acting allowance
Staff uniforms
Overtime
Recruitment costs
Medical expenses (First aid box)
Gratuity expense
Airfares at End of Contract
Performance bonus
FINANCE CHARGES
Bank charges
Exchange Loss/(Gain)
Withholding tax on interest
TOTAL EXPENDITURE
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8.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
2012
US$

Additions
US$

Disposals
US$

Transfers
US$

2013
US$

396 102
4 314 239
62 092
45 052
4 817 485

8 738
1 101
2 869
28 932
144 052
185 693

(9 408)
(12 039)
(21 447)

65 000
(65 000)
(100 243)
100 243
-

65 000
331 102
4 213 326
51 154
47 921
28 932
244 295
4 981 731

2012
Accumulated depreciation
US$
Buildings
(9 903)
Computer equipment
(3 985 303)
Office equipment
(52 326)
Furniture & fittings
(31 521)
Motor vehicles and cycles
DAM computer asset
Total
(4 079 053)

Charge for
the year
US$
(8 273)
(220 815)
(225)
(1 225)
(2 570)
(48 859)
(281 972)

Disposals
US$
8 467
10 835
19 302

Transfers
US$
-

2013
US$
(18 181)
(4 197 651)
(41 716)
(32 746)
(2 570)
(48 859)
(4 341 723)

Cost
Land
Buildings
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture & fittings
Motor vehicles & cycles
DAM computer asset
Total

Carrying amount
Land
Buildings
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture & fittings
Motor vehicles and cycles
DAM computer asset

2012
US$
386 199
328 936
9 766
13 531
738 432

2013
US$
65 000
312 921
15 675
9 438
15 176
26 362
195 436
640 008
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8.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Cost
Land and buildings
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture & fittings
Total

Accumulated depreciation
Buildings
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture & fittings
Total

Carrying amount
Land and buildings
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture & fittings

60

2011
US$

Additions
US$

Disposals
US$

2012
US$

249 225
4 101 025
62 092
39 132
4 451 474

146 877
219 951
5 920
372 748

(6 737)
(6 737)

396 102
4 314 239
62 092
45 052
4 817 485

2011
US$

Charge for
the year
US$

Disposals
US$

2012
US$

(3 643 381)
(50 437)
30 370)
(3 724 188)

(9 903)
(347 985)
(1 889)
(1 151)
(360 928)

6 063
6 063

(9 903)
(3 985 303)
(52 326)
(31 521)
(4 079 053)

2011
US$
249 225
457 644
11 655
8 762
727 286
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9.

2012
US$

256 056
4 764
260 820

157 192
31 267
188 459

2013
US$

2012
US$

846 094
289 129
303 524
656 670
261 403
100 346
134 501
339 520
152
4 961
517
10 469
2 947 286

652 991
266 977
385 052
(3 307)
99 190
106 992
103 727
99 425
129 964
26 363
10 193
343
7 146
5 198
(302)
359
99
282
273
32
25
1 891 022

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepayments
Other accounts receivable

10.

2013
US$

MEMBERS DAY-AHEAD-MARKET (DAM) ACCOUNTS

Member accounts
SAPP Security Zesco
SAPP NamPower DAM USD
SAPP SEC DAM USD
SAPP EDM DAM USD
SAPP ESKOM DAM ZAR
SAPP Security ZESA
SAPP BPC DAM USD
DAM Congestion Income
SAPP ZESA DAM USD
SAPP NamPower DAM Security ZAR
SAPP HCB DAM Security USD
SAPP DAM transmission losses USD
SAPP SNEL DAM USD
SAPP Eskom DAM USD
SAPP EDM DAM Security USD
SAPP DAM WHEELING USD
SAPP NamPower DAM ZAR
SAPP DAM transmission losses ZAR
SAPP ZESA DAM ZAR
SAPP HCB DAM USD
SAPP DAM WHEELING ZAR
SAPP EDM ZAR
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11.

SPECIAL FUNDS
US$

11.1 Norwegian Government Grant (NORAD) – Botswana
Balance brought forward on 1 April 2012

50 386
Bank date:

Refund of unused funds from NOK Account

16.10.2012

11,883

21.11.2012
22.02.2013

(30 000)
(32 204)

Payments:
PHD Capital
Transfer to NOK Account
Bank charges:

(106)

Interest received

41

Balance as at 31 March 2013

-

Represented by:
Special fund – Norwegian Government Grant (NORAD) – Botswana

-

Balance as at 31 March 2013

-

Balance brought forward on 1 April 2011
Payments:
Tendo Electronics

62 205
Bank date:
22.03.2012

(11 868)

Bank charges:

(51)

Interest received

100

Balance carried forward on 31 March 2012

50 386

Represented by:
Special fund – Norwegian Government Grant (NORAD) – Botswana

50 386

Balance as at 31 March 2012

50 386

The goal of the project, funded by the Government of Norway, is to provide inexpensive, environmentally friendly
and affordable energy and increase accessibility for rural areas in Southern Africa through the development of a
competitive electricity market.
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11.

SPECIAL FUNDS (continued)

11.2 Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP) - Norway

Balance brought forward on 1 April 2012

NOK
7 630 731

US$
1 312 589

52 484
181 768

9 158
32 204

Returned payment – NASDAQ
Transfer from NORAD Account Botswana

18.01.2013
21.02.2013

Payments

Bank date:

Enerweb
SAPP ZIZABONA
Norconsult
NASDAQ
Enviro Dynamics
NASDAQ
NASDAQ
NASDAQ
PHD Capital
Norconsult

16.05.2012
06.07.2012
24.07.2012
25.07.2012
28.08.2012
15.01.2013
18.02.2013
06.03.2013
27.03.2013
27.03.2013

(1 188 834)
(291 072)
(654 538)
(889 250)
(64 100)
(52 890)
(52 839)
(1 028 790)
(58 242)
(683 205)

(196 167)
(48 000)
(107 075)
(144 052)
(10 632)
(9 500)
(9 500)
(180 000)
(10 000)
(117 027)

Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges

02.04.2012
02.05.2012
01.06.2012
02.07.2012
01.08.2012
12.08.2012
01.10.2012
01.11.2012
03.12.2012
02.01.2013
01.02.2013
04.03.2013

(385)
(130)
(325)
(130)
(310)
(325)
(130)
(363)
(130)
(130)
(460)
(190)

(67)
(22)
(52)
(22)
(51)
(55)
(22)
(62)
(22)
(23)
(82)
(37)

Interest received

31.12.2012

55 797

10 000

Bank Charges:

Exchange loss
Balance as at 31 March 2013

(44 499)
2 954 012

486 982
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11.

SPECIAL FUNDS (continued)

11.2 Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP) – Norway (continued)
US$

Represented by:
Special fund – Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP) - Norway
Prepayments
Balance as at 31 March 2013

Balance brought forward on 1 April 2011
Norwegian Embassy in Maputo

20.10.2011

Payments

Bank date:

Meikles Hotel
Tendo Electronics
Lunches
Blinds and Carpet
ACTOM Protection & Control
Nord Pool Consulting
Power 15.04.2011
Custom clearance
Taxi fares
Netted automation
Netted Automation
ACTOM Protection & Control
Enerweb
LAN installation
NASDAQ
Lunches
PPA Energy
NASDAQ
PPA Energy
Enerweb
Enviro Dynamics
ACTOM Protection & Control
NASDAQ
NASDAQ
Decommissioning of PABX
Telephone cables
Hotel Cardoso
Frolgate Technology
Enviro Dynamics
Enviro Dynamics
NASDAQ
Norconsult
Frolgate Technology

01.04.2011
05.04.2011
06.04.2011
12.04.2011
13.04.2011
13.04.2011
(7 233)
19.04.2011
19.04.2011
30.04.2011
05.05.2011
05.05.2011
20.05.2011
16.06.2011
01.07.2011
07.07.2011
18.08.2011
23.08.2011
09.09.2011
09.09.2011
09.09.2011
09.09.2011
29.09.2011
28.10.2011
04.10.2011
17.10.2011
01.11.2011
03.11.2011
04.11.2011
19.12.2011
17.01.2012
05.03.2012
29.03.2012

Balance carried forward
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486 982
135 000
621 982
NOK
8 575 633

US$
1 539 150

8 775 000

1 529 652

(76 690)
(31 469)
(2 813)
(5 618)
(1 839 903)
(385 300)
(1 341)
(5 374)
(4 518)
(97 379)
(98,863)
(1 360 408)
(70 873)
(5 015)
(480 000)
(12 438)
(55 080)
(182 500)
(3 421)
(69 993)
(173 443)
(460 838)
(360 000)
(1 104 000)
(32 772)
(1 971)
(28 400)
(286 294)
(196 330)
(103 233)
(1 055 075)
(877 903)
(295 526)

(13 895)
(5 736)
(514)
(1 028)
(338 000)
(70 067)

7 579 960

1 308 940

(980)
(824)
(17 252)
(18 590)
(253 500)
(12 846)
(902)
(89 151)
(2 289)
(10 028)
(33 001)
(637)
(12 864)
(31 553)
(84 500)
(62 553)
(203 068)
(5 471)
(348)
(5 015)
(50 121)
(34 790)
(17 028)
(175 000)
(155 703)
(51 267)

F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M ENTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
11.

SPECIAL FUNDS (continued)

11.2 Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP) – Norway (continued)
Balance carried forward

7 579 960

1 308 940

(135)
(195)
(280)
(130)
(160)
(1,200)
(220)
(400)
(190)
(310)
(190)
(325)
(130)

(24)
(37)
(52)
(24)
(29)
(213)
(40)
(67)
(34)
(53)
(32)
(56)
(23)

54 636

9 204

-

(4 871)

7 630 731

1 312 589

Bank Charges:
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Audit Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges
Bank Charges

01.04.2011
02.05.2011
03.06.2011
01.07.2011
01.08.2011
12.08.2011
01.09.2011
03.10.2011
01.11.2011
01.12.2011
03.01.2012
02.02.2012
01.03.2012

Interest received
Exchange loss
Balance carried forward on 31 March 2012

Represented by:
Special fund – Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP) - Norway
Prior period prepayments omitted
Balance as at 31 March 2012

1 312 589
(17 252)
1 295 337

The goal of the project, funded by the Government of Norway, is to provide least cost, environmentally friendly
and affordable energy and increase accessibility for rural areas in Southern Africa through the development of
a competitive electricity market.
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11.

SPECIAL FUNDS (continued)

11.3 ZIZABONA Project
US$
Balance brought forward on 1 April 2012

9 447
Bank date:

Project Coordination fees from NOK Account

04.07.2012

48 000

01.04.2012
07.06.2012
21.06.2012
26.06.2012
05.07.2012
03.07.2012
13.07.2012
11.10.2012
24.10.2012
09.11.2012
12.11.2012
23.11.2012
09.01.2013
14.01.2013
15.01.2013
18.01.2013
23.01.2013

(616)
(1 649)
(1 887)
(2 632)
(204)
(188)
(1 639)
(613)
(940)
(801)
(714)
(636)
(931)
(439)
(113)
(2 682)
(14 907)

Payments:
ZIZABONA Lawyers Meeting
Airfares Lusaka Meeting
ZIZABONA Lawyers and MANCO Meeting
Airfares ZIZABONA IRT
ZIZABONA IGMOU Stationery
Lunch for consultative meeting
ZIZABONA Investors Meeting- Namibia
ZIZABONA MANCO Meeting- Zimbabwe
Airfares CEC Equity Investment on ZIZABONA
Airfares ZIZABONA Lawyers Meeting
CEC Equity Investment on ZIZABONA- Zambia
ZIZABONA Lawyers Committee Meeting
Airfares ESKOM Due Diligence
Airfares ESKOM Due Diligence
ESKOM Due Dilignence
ZIZABONA Lawyers and MANCO Meeting
Payment of prior year debt
Bank charges
Interest received
Exchange Loss

(377)
42
(118)

Balance as at 31 March 2013

25 403

Represented by:
Special fund – ZIZABONA Project

25 403

Balance as at 31 March 2013

25 403
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11.

SPECIAL FUNDS (continued)

11.3 ZIZABONA Project
US$
Balance brought forward on 1 April 2011

8 995

Refund from SAPP bank account

1 573

Interest Received

5

Payments
Meeting expenses
Bank charges
Exchange difference

Bank date:
01.06.2011

(925)
(118)
(83)

Balance as at 31 March 2012

9 447

Represented by:
Special fund – ZIZABONA Project

9 447

11.4 SAPP United Nations Environment Programme
Balance brought forward on 1 April 2012
Write off of debt by CC

5 511
6

Payments

Bank date:

Translation of PCB Training Manuals
Translation of PCB Training Manuals
Air tickets to Malawi
ESCOM trip expenses

18.05.2012
29.06.2012
17.01.2013
25.01.2013

(1 760)
(1 760)
(1 355)
(495)

30.04.2012
18.05.2012
31.05.2012
29.06.2012
30.06.2012
31.07.2012
31.08.2012
29.09.2012
31.10.2012
30.11.2012
31.12.2012
31.01.2012

(12)
(13)
(12)
(13)
(12)
(13)
(12)
(12)
(12)
(12)
(12)
(12)

Bank Charges:
Maintenance fees
TT charges
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Maintenance fees
Balance carried forward

0
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11.

SPECIAL FUNDS (continued)

11.4 SAPP United Nations Environment Programme (continued)
Balance brought forward
Balance as at 31 March 2013

0
0

Represented by:
Special fund – United Nations Environment Programme

0

Balance as at 31 March 2013

0

Balance brought forward on 1 April 2011

45 000

Refund for dinner and daily subsistence
SAA refund (RCPT 1322)
Advance

727
675
15 000

Payments

Bank date:

The Sandton Indaba
South African Airlines
The Sandton Indaba
Daily Subsistence & Dinner Allowances
The Sandton Indaba
Orange Design
Orange Design
Camera 13 Video & Multimedia
Michael Muller
South African Airlines
Servetel Administration
Daily Subsistence & Dinner Allowances
Caroline Theka ( Bal on DSA)
Camera 13 Video & Multimedia
South African Airlines
Africa Institute (Refund for air ticket)
Servetel Administration
Michael Muller

06.04.2011
11.04.2011
09.05.2011
06.05.2011
03.06.2011
04.08.2011
05.09.2011
08.09.2011
26.09.2011
13.10.2011
31.10.2011
01.11.2011
16.11.2011
18.11.2011
01.11.2011
29.11.2011
12.12.2011
20.12.2011

(11 851)
(8 309)
(3 866)
(11 700)
(308)
(490)
(490)
(350)
(1 980)
(5 003)
(2 265)
(2 660)
(110)
(255)
(52)
(762)
(105)
(4 620)

06.04.2011
09.05.2011
31.05.2011
06.06.2011
07.06.2011
30.06.2011
31.07.2011
04.08.2011
31.08.2011

(152)
(58)
(1)
(25)
(2)
(12)
(12)
(10)
(12)

Bank charges:
Transfer Charges
Transfer Charges
Service Fee
TT charges
Exchange Control Batch
Maintenance Fee
Maintenance Fee
Transfer Charges
Maintenance Fee
Balance carried forward
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11.

SPECIAL FUNDS (continued)

11.4 SAPP United Nations Environment Programme (continued)
Balance carried forward

5 942

Transfer Charges
Transfer Charges
Maintenance Fee
Service Fee
Inter account Transfer
Cash withdrawal fee
Service Fee
Maintenance Fee
Cash withdrawal fee
TT charges
Exchange Control Batch
TT charges
TT charges
Exchange Control Batch
TT charges
Exchange Control Batch
Service Fee
Maintenance Fee
Exchange Control Batch
Inter account Transfer
TT charges
TT charges
Exchange Control Batch
Service Fee
Maintenance Fee
Maintenance Fee
Maintenance Fee

06.09.2011
28.09.2011
30.09.2011
30.09.2011
03.10.2011
13.10.2011
31.10.2011
31.10.2011
01.11.2011
02.11.2011
03.11.2011
17.11.2011
18.11.2011
18.11.2011
29.11.2011
21.11.2011
30.11.2011
30.11.2011
01.12.2011
08.12.2011
14.12.2011
21.12.2011
29.11.2011
31.01.2012
31.01.2012
29.02.2012
31.03.2012

(10)
(32)
(12)
(1)
(2)
(50)
(1)
(12)
(27)
(34)
(3)
(25)
(25)
(5)
(25)
(3)
(1)
(12)
(3)
(2)
(25)
(69)
(3)
(1)
(24)
(12)
(12)

Balance as at 31 March 2012

5 511

Represented by:
Special fund – United Nations Environment Programme

5 511

Balance as at 31 March 2012

5 511

The grant was issued by the United Nations Environment Program(UNEP) with the objective of capacity
building in polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in developing country parties and parties with economies in
transition within SAPP/SADC. This project was expected to run from March to October 2011.
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FIN AN CIA L S TAT EMENT S
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
Restated (Note 13)
2013
2012
US$
US$
12.

OTHER PAYABLES
Provision for leave pay
Provision for audit fees
Provision for gratuity
Other payables

13.

37 700
19 500
62 874
103 392

49 967
13 500
111 246
425

223 466

175 138

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT
The adjustment relates to gratuity payable to management that was not provided for in the prior period financial
statements. The comparative amounts have been appropriately adjusted. The effect of the correction of this error on
the results of 2012 is as follows:
2012
US$
Effect on Income Statement
Increase in staff costs
15 051

Effect on Statement of Financial Position
Increase in Other Payables
Decrease in Accumulated Fund
14.

2012
US$

2011
US$

111 246
15 051

96 195
96 195

GOING CONCERN
The Directors have assessed the ability of the Organisation to continue operating as a going concern and believe
that the preparation of these financial statements on a going concern basis is appropriate.

15.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
As at the date of approval of the financial statements, there were no material adjusting or non-adjusting events after
reporting date.

16.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
There were no known commitments and contingencies as at the end of the year.
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THE SAPP GRID - 2012/13
SNEL
DRC

TANESCO
TANZANIA

Pk=1050 MW

Pk=890 MW

260 MW
400 MW

ESCOM
MALAWI

ZESCO
ZAMBIA

Pk=277 MW

Pk=1562 MW

ENE
ANGOLA

400 MW

Pk=1073 MW

1400 MW
500 MW

ZESA
ZIMBABWE

HCB / EDM
MOZAMBIQUE

Pk=2029 MW

EDM Pk=706 MW
MOZAL = 900 MW

350 MW
600 MW

250 MW

250 MW

BPC
BOTSWANA

150 MW

1450 MW

Pk=578 MW
1450 MW
2000 MW
650
MW

150 MW
500 MW

NAMPOWER
NAMIBIA

ESKOM
SOUTH AFRICA

250
MW

Pk=611 MW

SEC
SWAZILAND
Pk=205 MW

Pk=35896 MW
230 MW

533 kV DC

275 kV

400 kV

220 kV

330 kV

132 kV
110 kV

1450 MW

LEC
LESOTHO

Pk -Peak Demand

Pk=129 MW
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